# MOLECULAR BASIS OF THE KIDNEY FILTRATION BARRIER: ROLE OF THE NEPHRIN PROTEIN COMPLEX

Eija Heikkilä

Department of Bacteriology and Immunology, Haartman Institute University of Helsinki Finland



#### ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented for public discussion, with the permission of the Medical Faculty of the University of Helsinki, in the Lecture Hall 2 in Haartman Institute, Haartmaninkatu 3, Helsinki on April 30<sup>th</sup>, 2010, at 12 noon.

Helsinki 2010

Supervised by

Docent Sanna Lehtonen Department of Pathology University of Helsinki Finland

Professor Harry Holthöfer Centre for BioAnalytical Sciences Dublin City University Ireland

Reviewed by

Professor Hannu Jalanko Children's Hospital University of Helsinki Finland

Professor Johanna Ivaska VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland, Turku Centre for Biotechnology, University of Turku Department of Biochemistry and Food Chemistry, University of Turku Finland

Official opponent

Professor Peter Mathieson Academic and Children's Renal Unit University of Bristol United Kingdom

Front cover illustration: Electron micrograph of healthy murine podocytes. Back cover illustration: Electron micrograph of effaced murine podocytes after treatment with adriamycin. ISBN 978-952-92-7190-0 (paperpack) ISBN 978-952-10-6240-7 (PDF) http://ethesis.helsinki.fi Multiprint Vantaa 2010

To my family

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST O	F ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	6
ABBRE	EVIATIONS	7
ABSTR	ACT	8
REVIE	W OF THE LITERATURE	10
1.	The Anatomy and function of the kidney	10
2.	The glomerular filtration barrier	10
3.	Glomerular permeability	13
4.	Why does the glomerular filter not get blocked?	14
5.	Congenital nephrotic syndrome of the Finnish type (CNF)	14
6.	The slit diaphragm	15
7.	The role of nephrin in the SD	17
8.	Nephrin-like proteins	21
9.	The role of nephrin and Nephs orthologues in Drosophila and C. elegans	23
10.	Cadherin superfamily	24
11.	Transgenic mouse models	25
12.	Podocyte injury	27
AIMS	OF THE PRESENT STUDY	32
MATE	RIALS AND METHODS	33
1.	Clinical samples	33
2.	Animals	33
3.	Cell lines	34
4.	Primary antibodies	35
5.	Constructs	35
6.	Reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)	36
7.	Retroviral infection and establishment of stable cell lines	36
8.	Cell assays	36
9.	Protein interaction studies	37
10.	Immunoblotting	38
11.	Immunofluorescence microscopy	38
12.	Immunohistochemistry	39
13.	Electron and immunoelectron microscopy	39
14.	Ethical issues	39
RESUL	TS	40
1.	Identification of densin as part of the nephrin protein complex	40
2.	Densin localizes to the glomerular slit diaphragm	40
3.	Densin interacts with $\beta$ -catenin	41

4.	Densin behaves in a similar fashion as adherens junction proteins in cell	
	junctions	42
5.	Densin is up-regulated in kidneys of CNF patients	43
6.	β-catenin is dispensable for adult mouse podocyte	43
7.	β-catenin promotes adriamycin-induced podocyte injury	44
8.	Neph3 is a component of nephrin-Neph1 protein complex	45
9.	Neph1 and Neph3 show homophilic and heterophilic adhesion activity with	
	nephrin	46
10.	Tyrosine phosphorylation of nephrin is reduced after it forms cell-cell conta	cts
	with Neph1 or Neph3	47
11.	Neph3 is up-regulated in nephrin deficient mouse kidneys	48
DISCL	JSSION	49
1.	Densin is a novel component of the SD	49
2.	Does densin regulate the formation of adherens junctions?	51
3.	$\boldsymbol{\beta}$ -catenin is not essential for formation or maintenance of the SD	52
4.	$\boldsymbol{\beta}$ -catenin plays a role in the modulation of SD in podocyte injury	52
5.	Nephrin needs to trans-interact with Neph3 or Neph1 in order to induce cel	
	adhesion	55
6.	Tyrosine phosphorylation of nephrin is reduced after nephrin forms cell-cell	
	contacts with Neph1 or Neph3	56
7.	Lack of nephrin leads to up-regulation of Neph3	56
CONC	CLUSIONS	58
ACKN	OWLEDGEMENTS	60
REFEF	RENCES	62
ORIGI	INAL PUBLICATIONS	77

# LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following publications, which are referred to by their Roman numerals in the text.

I Ahola H, Heikkilä E, Åström E, Inagaki M, Izawa I, Pavenstädt H, Kerjaschki D and Holthöfer H. A novel protein, densin, expressed by glomerular podocytes. J Am Soc Nephrol 14(7):1731-7, 2003.

II Heikkilä E, Ristola M, Endlich K, Lehtonen S, Lassila M, Havana M, Endlich N and Holthöfer H. Densin and  $\beta$ -catenin form a complex and co-localize in cultured podocyte cell junctions. Mol Cell Biochem 305(1-2):9-18, 2007.

III Heikkilä  $E^*$ , Juhila J<sup>\*</sup>, Lassila M, Messing M, Perälä N, Lehtonen E, Lehtonen S, Verbeek S & Holthöfer H.  $\beta$ -catenin mediates adriamycin-induced albuminuria and podocyte injury in the adult mouse kidneys. Nephrol Dial Transplant (accepted for publication).

IV Heikkilä E, Ristola M, Havana M, Holthöfer H & Lehtonen S. Nephrin cooperates with Neph1/3 to induce cell adhesion associated with decreased tyrosine phosphorylation of nephrin (submitted)

<sup>\*</sup>equal contribution

# ABBREVIATIONS

AP-1	activating protein-1
aPKC	atypical protein kinase C
CAmKII	calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II
CASK	calmodulin-associated serin/threonin kinase
CD2AP	CD2-associated protein
CNF	congenital nephrotic syndrome of the Finnish type
DAG	diacylglycerol
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
duf/kirre	dumfounded/kin of Irregular-chiasm-C
FSGS	focal and segmental glomerulosclerosis
GBM	glomerular basement membrane
GLEPP-1	glomerular epithelial protein 1
Grb2	growth factor receptor-bound protein 2
HSNL	hermaphrodite-specific neurons
HSPG	heparin sulphate proteoglycan
IP <sub>3</sub>	inositol (1,4,5) trisphosphate
IrreC/rst	irregular-chiasm-C/roughest
JAM-1	junctional adhesion molecule-1
LAP	leucine-rich repeat and PDZ domain
LEF/TCF	lymphoid enhancer factor/T cell factor
MAGI-1/2	membrane-associated guanylate kinase inverted 1/2
MAGUIN-1	membrane-associated guanylate kinase-interacting protein 1
MCD	minimal change disease
MDCK	Madin-Darby canine kidney
M-MLV RT	Moloney murine leukemia virus reverse transcriptase
MT 1-MMP	membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
N-WASp	neural Wiskott–Aldrich syndrome protein
P-cadherin	placental cadherin
PA	puromycin aminonucleoside
PAN	puromycin aminonucleoside nephrosis
PDZ	PSD-95/disc large/ZO-1
PLC- γ1	phospholipase C-γ1
PI3K	phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PIP <sub>2</sub>	phosphatidylinositol (4,5) bisphosphate
PIP <sub>3</sub>	phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5) trisphosphate
PSD	post-synaptic density
RT-PCR	reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction
SH2	Src homology 2
SD	slit diaphragm
Sns	stick and stones
TRCP6	canonical transient receptor potential 6
VE-cadherin	vascular endothelial cadherin
VVI-1	Wilms tumor 1
20-1	zonula occludens T

## ABSTRACT

Proteinuria is a hallmark of kidney diseases and a consequence of defects in the glomerular filtration barrier. This sophisticated filter consists of glomerular endothelial cells, glomerular basement membrane and glomerular epithelial cells (podocytes), and together these layers form a size and charge selective barrier for plasma proteins. Podocyte foot processes form an intercellular contact, the slit diaphragm, which has been shown to be essential for preventing leakage of plasma macromolecules into urine. The slit diaphragm is a unique cell junction containing immunoglobulin superfamily proteins as well as components of adherens and tight junctions. The immunoglobulin superfamily member nephrin is crucial for the formation of the slit diaphragm since mutations in nephrin gene result in a severe nephrotic syndrome, congenital nephrotic syndrome of the Finnish type (CNF) that is characterized by massive proteinuria already *in utero* due to lack of the slit diaphragms. This thesis work has investigated the molecular mechanisms of how nephrin participates in the formation of the slit diaphragm.

Nephrin and its homologue Neph1 have large extracellular domains which bind to each other and this complex has been suggested to bridge opposite podocyte foot processes and thus form the slit diaphragm. The association of nephrin with adherens junction proteins has also been suggested to play a role in regulating slit diaphragm assembly. Tyrosine phosphorylation of the intracellular domain of nephrin creates binding sites for several signalling proteins which together with nephrin activate actin cytoskeletal organization, elevate intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels or decrease apoptosis. However, very little is known about the role of nephrin in cell adhesion. In this thesis work we showed that nephrin is able to bind to another member of the Neph family, Neph3. We further showed that Neph1 and Neph3 were able to form cell-cell contacts alone, whereas nephrin needed to interact with Neph1 or Neph3 in trans-configuration in order to induce cell adhesion. Tyrosine phosphorylation of nephrin was decreased when it formed cell-cell contacts together with Neph1 or Neph3. We also identified densin as a novel component of the nephrin protein complex. Densin was shown to form a complex with adherens junction proteins, P-cadherin and  $\beta$ -catenin, and further it behaved in a similar fashion as adherens junction proteins in cell junctions indicating that it may take part in cell adhesion. These data extend the current understanding of the composition of the nephrin protein complex composed of immunoglobulin superfamily and adherens junction proteins. Furthermore, these results suggest that nephrin may cooperate with Neph1 and /or Neph3 in the formation of the slit diaphragm which associates with alterations of tyrosine phosphorylation status of nephrin.

Podocyte injury is a central event in the development of proteinuria and is characterized by loss of slit diaphragms, appearance of tight-junction-like structures, up/down-regulation of specific podocyte proteins and effacement of podocyte foot processess. In this thesis work nephrin associating proteins, densin and Neph3, were shown to be up-regulated in podocytes of CNF patients and nephrin deficient mice which share characteristics with podocytes observed in chronic kidney diseases. These data indicate that densin and Neph3 may be involved in molecular pathways which lead to morphological alterations commonly seen in injured podocytes.  $\beta$ -catenin was shown to mediate adriamycin-induced podocyte injury in mice, since  $\beta$ -catenin deficient mice were protected from podocyte injury and  $\beta$ -catenin was up-regulated in podocytes after adriamycin treatment. These data suggest novel molecular mechanisms underlying podocyte injury.

# **REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE**

## 1. The Anatomy and function of the kidney

Mammalian kidneys are bean-shaped paired organs that lie in the posterior abdominal wall. Kidneys are surrounded by fibrous capsules and they are divided into cortical and medullary regions. In mammals a single renal artery supplies each kidney and it divides into smaller arteries which ascend the cortex. There they enter the Bowmans capsule and end up into into a vascular tuft known as renal glomerulus, where blood is ultrafiltered. The ensuing primary urine is further concentrated and processed in various segments of the renal tubuli.

The single functional unit of the kidney consisting of glomerulus (Bowman's capsule and glomelular capillary tuft) and renal tubule is called a nephron. In humans each kidney contains about 0,8 to 1,2 million nephrons. The function of the glomerulus is to filtrate blood in a size and charge selective manner forming daily about 180 liters of primary urine which first enters the urinary space. From the urinary space the urine flows to the proximal tubule and is further transferred to different segments of Henle's loop, the distal tubulus, the connecting tubulus and to collecting ducts. This whole tubular system forms together with blood vessels the effective machinery responsible for concentration of urine, pH regulation as well as water and electrolyte homeostasis (Hallgrimsson *et al.*, 2003).

## 2. The glomerular filtration barrier

The glomerular capillary wall forms the glomerular filtration barrier which is responsible for ultrafiltration of plasma so that macromolecules and blood cells are retained in the circulation. It is a highly specialized structure which consists of three layers together forming a size and charge selective filter. Sieving starts at the glomerular endothelial cell layer in which plasma is filtered through the endothelial fenestrations. Filtration continues in the glomerular basement membrane (GBM) which is composed of a central electron dense layer (lamina densa) surrounded by two electron lucent layers (lamina rara interna and externa). Highly differentiated glomerular epithelial cells, called podocytes, provide the final sieve for the filtrate through their specialized cell-cell contact, the slit diaphragm (SD) (See Figure 1).



Figure 1: Schematic presentation of the glomerular filtration barrier. An arrow indicates the direction of untrafiltration trough the filter.

#### Glomerular endothelial cells

Vascular endothelium regulates blood flow and functions as a gatekeeper between blood and tissues by controlling the permeability for blood cells, proteins and other solutes (Minshall et al., 2006; Ley and Reutershan, 2006; Busse and Fleming, 2006). In the glomerulus, the function of endothelium differs from that in other parts of the body since it contributes to the formation of plasma ultrafiltrate of the blood and thus encounters high hydrostatic pressure. The plasma is filtered through trans-cellular holes (fenestrations) whose size (70-100 nm in humans) and number have an impact on the glomerular filtration (Satchell and Braet, 2009). The luminal side of the endothelial cells and fenestrations is covered by a layer of negatively charged membrane-bound macromolecules (proteoglycans, glycosaminoglycans, glycoproteins and glycolipids). The layer is called the glycocalyx and due to its negative charge, it is important for the permselectivity properties of the glomerulus (Pries et al., 2000; Jeansson and Haraldsson, 2006). Endothelial cells are connected to each other via tight and adherens junctions and their integrity is also important for filtration (Bazzoni and Dejana, 2004; Kurihara et al., 1992; Sutton et al., 2003). Endothelial cells are also engaged in the formation of GBM by synthesizing its components, such as laminin (St John and Abrahamson, 2001) and type IV collagen (Abrahamson et al., 2009).

#### Glomerular basement membrane

Basement membranes are extracellular matrices that surround endothelial and epithelial cells as well as individual adipocytes, muscle cells and nerve cells. In general, they provide support, divide tissues into compartments, and influence cell behaviour in multiple ways (Yurchenco *et al.*, 1990). The GBM differs from other basement membranes in that it is exceptionally surrounded and maintained by two cell layers, the endothelial cells and podocytes. In electron microscopy the GBM can be separated into central electron dense layer, lamina densa, which is faced by electron-lucent layers, inner lamina rara interna and the outer lamina rara externa. The GBM is composed of glycoproteins including type IV collagen, laminins and entactin/nidogen as well as heparin sulphate proteoglycans (HSPG) such as agrin and perlecan. Type IV collagen and laminins form complexes which are connected by entactin/nidogen and this network

plays an essential role in size-selectively restricting the passage of the proteins through the glomerular filter (Abrahamson, 1987; Pihlajaniemi, 1996; Timpl and Brown, 1996). The importance of the laminin-type IV collagen complex for glomerular filtration is supported by the findings that mutations in genes encoding type IV collagen and laminin ß2 associate with congenital nephrotic syndromes, Alport syndrome (Alport 1927; Barker *et al.*, 1990) and Pierson syndrome (Pierson *et al.*, 1963; Zenker *et al.*, 2004), respectively. The level of HSPG, which binds to the collagen-laminin network, is decreased in patients with congenital nephrotic syndrome compared to healthy controls (Vernier *et al.*, 1983) emphazising the role of HSPG in developing chargedependent permeability properties of the GBM.

#### Viscelar epithelial cells (podocytes)

Podocytes are highly differentiated epithelial cells with a complex cellular architecture. Their large cell body, bulging into the urinary space, gives rise to long primary processes. The processes extend toward the glomerular capillaries and divide into secondary foot processes which enwrap the capillaries by interdigitations. The basal membrane of podocyte foot process serves to anchor podocytes to the GBM via several adhesion molecules including  $\alpha_3\beta_1$ -integrin complex (Kerjaschki *et al.*, 1989; Korhonen et al., 1990) and  $\alpha$ -and  $\beta$ -dystroglycans (Raats et al., 2000). The apical membrane above the SD is highly negatively charged mainly due to a heavily sialylated glycoprotein podocalyxin (Kerjaschki et al., 1984). The foot processes from neighbouring podocytes are connected to each other via a special junction, the slit diaphragm (SD) (40 nm wide) (Rodewald and Karnovsky, 1974) (See Figure 2). SD is the only junction between the podocytes and it localizes between the apical and basal cell membrane domains of the foot processes. In electron microscopy the SD is seen as a filamentous strand which exhibits a zipper-like structure in which openings have dimension corresponding almost exactly to the size of albumin (Rodewald and Karnovsky, 1974). Therefore, SD has been suggested to play a crucial role in restricting passage of blood proteins. This hypothesis is supported by the finding that mutations in a gene encoding the SD protein nephrin associate with Congenital nephrotic syndrome of the Finnish type (CNF) (Kestila et al., 1998). Nephrin deficiency in these patients leads to massive proteinuria associated with narrowing of the slits between podocyte foot processes and lack of the filamentous SD structure observed in electron microscopy (Patrakka et al., 2000).

The unique shape of the foot processes is influenced by a highly organized actin cytoskeleton, whereas microtubules and intermediate filaments dominate in the cell body and primary processes. The actin cytoskeleton is important for the integrity of the SD and also for keeping podocytes attached to the GBM (Pavenstadt *et al.*, 2003). Actin plays also a role when podocytes have to cope with mechanical stress from capillary wall tension as well as with shear stress which is a consequence of filtrate flow (Endlich and Endlich, 2006). Most of the cell organelles such as the nucleus, a well-developed Golgi system, endoplasmic reticulum, mitochondria and lysosomes are concentrated in the podocyte cell body, whereas primary and secondary foot processes contain only few organelles (Pavenstadt *et al.*, 2003). The molecular composition of the GBM is important for podocytes to preserve their normal cell architecture. Therefore,

podocytes participate actively not only in adding components to mature GBM but also in turnover of the GBM by secreting matrix modifying enzymes (Abrahamson, 1985; McMillan *et al.*, 1996; Oneda *et al.*, 2008).

#### The mesangium

Mesangium lies in the center of the glomerular tuft and provides structural support for the glomerular filter. It consists of mesangial cells which are surrounded by extracellular matrix (Zimmermann, 1933). Mesangial cells are irregular in shape and possess numerous processes which extend to the extracellular matrix and the GBM. They resemble vascular smooth muscle cells by having the ability to contract via their actin-myosin network and therefore they can regulate glomerular filtration via several vasoactive agents (Becker, 1972; Ausiello *et al.*, 1980). They are also actively phagocytic and thus may contribute to the removal of glomerular debris (Mauer *et al.*, 1972; Elema *et al.*, 1976). Mesangial cells produce mesangial extracellular matrix which shares components with the GBM such as type IV collagen and laminins (Ishimura *et al.*, 1989). Mesangial cells bind to the extracellular matrix and regulate its composition and turnover (Veis, 1993).

## 3. Glomerular permeability

The glomerular permeability for macromolecules has been investigated by using tracers with varying charge, shape and size. Several tracer studies using dextran sulphate and positively charged ferritin have provided evidence that passage of negatively charged macromolecules through glomerular filter is more restricted than their neutral counterparts (Rennke et al., 1975; Chang et al., 1975; Bennett et al., 1976; Guasch et al., 1993). Tracer studies have suggested that negatively charged lamina rara interna of the GBM and the glycogalyx lining the endothelial fenestrations form the primary barrier which restricts negatively charged molecules entering deeper in the GBM (Rennke et al., 1975). However, dextran sulphate tracer studies have also been criticized by showing that glomerular cells are able to take up these tracers (Tay et al., 1991) and plasma proteins, and that GBM can bind them (Vyas and Comper, 1994). Charge selectivity of glomerular filter has also been overruled by using fluorescently labelled albumin which has shown that tubular up-take is mainly responsible for restricting passage of proteins into urine and that this up-take system is impaired in proteinuric conditions (Russo et al., 2007). However, later on this was corrected by showing that the glomerular sieving coefficient for albumin is lower that it was reported in the fluorescently labelled albumin assays (Russo et al., 2007; Tanner, 2009). Furthermore, tubular up-take of albumin would be saturated if glomerular filtering would not exist (Lazzara and Deen, 2007). In addition, the results obtained from experimental animal models in which the charge of the glomerular wall is modified (Ciarimboli et al., 1999) support the data obtained from tracer studies which, however, may need correction due to above mentioned limitations of tracer properties.

The size-selective properties of the glomerular filter has been investigated by using neutral ferritin (480 kDa) (Farquhar *et al.*, 1961) and dextrans with different molecular

sizes (32, 62 and 125 kDa) (Caulfield and Farquhar, 1974). The smallest dextran (32 kDa) was gradually lost from the blood and urinary space, whereas only minor amount of 62 kDa dextran (close to the size of albumin, 68 kDa) was detected in the urinary space and 125 kDa dextran was mostly retained in the circulation (Caulfield and Farguhar, 1974). Furthermore, several tracer studies using Ficoll (Blouch et al., 1997; Ohlson et al., 2000) support the size-selectivity of the glomerular filter and based on the results, a two-pore model has been developed in which glomerular filter is suggested to contain large numbers of small pores (~ 37.5 Å) and low numbers of large pores (~120Å). According to this theory native albumin is normally passed through large pores but not through small pores. If the negative charge of the small pore is decreased, albumin is able to pass small pores which leads to increased amount of albumin in urine (Ohlson et al., 2001; Rippe and Haraldsson, 1994). The shape of the molecule has also shown to influence its permeability across the glomerular filter. Horseradish peroxidise, for example, which has similar globular molecular configuration as albumin, has been shown to be more restricted for transport across the filter than dextran that is a linear polymer (Rennke and Venkatachalam, 1979).

## 4. Why does the glomerular filter not get blocked?

There are several theories why circulating plasma macromolecules, which cannot pass the filtration barrier, do not block the glomerular filter. Mesangial cells (Farquhar and Palade, 1962) and podocytes (Farquhar *et al.*, 1961; Akilesh *et al.*, 2008) have been shown to clear the GBM by taking up proteins by phagocytosis, endocytosis or pinocytosis. The charge of the GBM has also been shown to prevent clogging (Kanwar and Rosenzweig, 1982). Smithies has provided an elegant gel permeation/diffusion theory in which the GBM is suggested to act as a size selective gel and SD provides resistance to fluid flow. According to this theory the local increase of albumin concentration inside the capillaries is lowered by red blood cells (having a diameter comparable to glomerular capillaries) which push away the excess albumin. The few macromolecules which enter the GBM pass it by diffusion rather than by liquid flow (Smithies *et al.*, 2003). Based on the above, it may be that several anti-clogging mechanisms exist in the glomerular filter.

## 5. Congenital nephrotic syndrome of the Finnish type (CNF)

In 1956 Hallman and co-workers reported eight cases of infants in Finland who died of nephrotic syndrome, the eldest being 10 months. The symptoms included edema, increased plasma cholesterol, a low level of plasma albumin and massive proteinuria, which all are typical symptoms for a congenital nephrotic syndrome. The mothers delivered the babies up to six weeks prematurely and their placentas were exceptionally large, which indicates that the disease begins *in utero*. The kidneys of the affected infants were large and contained dilated tubules, mesangial hyperplasia and glomerulosclerosis (Hallman *et al.*, 1956).

#### Genetic basis of CNF

Ten years later Norio showed that the disease was inherited as an autosomal recessive trait and that it is more common in Finland than anywhere else, with the incidence of an estimated 1:8200 births (Norio, 1966) and, in consequence, it was termed as congenital nephrotic syndrome of the Finnish type (CNF). In 1998 the gene causing CNF was identified which was termed *NPHS1* and the gene product was named nephrin (Kestila *et al.*, 1998). Very soon after the finding of nephrin it was localized to SD in man and mouse by immunoelectron microscopy (Ruotsalainen *et al.*, 1999; Holzman *et al.*, 1999). Deletion of *NPHS1* gene in the mouse leads to morphological alterations resembling the findings in the CNF patients and therefore the mouse line provides a model to investigate pathogenesis underlying CNF. It is worth to note, however, that nephrin deficiency in mice is fatal earlier than in man resulting in death within 24 hours after birth (Putaala *et al.*, 2001; Rantanen *et al.*, 2002).

#### Pathological features of the CNF kidney

Macroscopical investigations have shown that the kidneys of CNF patients have a greater number of glomeruli and the glomeruli are about twice as big as normal (Tryggvason et al., 1975; Tryggvason, 1978). The glomerular endothelial cells show formation of blebs, but the structure of the endothelium is mostly preserved (Kaukinen et al., 2008). The mesangium is expanded due to mesangial cell proliferation and accumulation of extracellular matrix (Kaukinen et al., 2010), but no alterations in the structure of the GBM is observed (Kaukinen et al., 2008). Scanning electron microscopy has shown that podocyte cell bodies have balloon-like structures and instead of systemic inter-digitations of secondary processes, the capillaries are enwrapped by a flat cytoplasmic sheet. The number of podocyte slits was decreased up to 80 %, the width of the slits varied and about half of the junctions between the podocytes were only 5-10 nm wide thus resembling tight-junctions (Ruotsalainen et al., 2000; Lahdenkari et al., 2004). The fact that the CNF patients lack the filamentous image of SD in electron microscopy (Patrakka et al., 2000) indicates that nephrin has a crucial function for the SD assembly and provides the first evidence that SD has a crucial role in the glomerular filtration barrier.

## 6. The slit diaphragm

The slit diaphragm arises from tight and adherens junctions during podocyte development

Podocyte development is divided into vesicle stage, S-shaped body, capillary loop and maturing stages (Reeves *et al.*, 1978). Primitive podocytes appear first at the S-shape body stage during the glomerulogenesis and can be recognized by expression of podocyte-specific proteins including transcription factor Wilms tumor 1 (WT-1) (Mundlos *et al.*, 1993) and glomerular epithelial protein 1 (GLEPP-1) (Sharif *et al.*, 1998). At this stage podocytes form columnar epithelium in which the cells are connected with tight and adherens junctions that migrate down the lateral surface of the podocytes (Reeves *et al.*, 1978; Schnabel *et al.*, 1989). In the capillary loop stage podocytes lose their mitotic activity (Nagata *et al.*, 1993) and start to make interdigitations with early broad foot processes. Most of the processes are joined by

tight junctions, but junctions resembling SD can also be seen although they are wider (~90nm) and more apically located than in mature podocyte (Reeves *et al.*, 1978). During maturing stage more capillaries are formed, foot processes are still differentiating and almost all of the tight junctions are replaced by the SDs (Reeves *et al.*, 1978) (See Figure 2).



Figure 2: Schematic presentation of podocyte differentiation. GBM, glomerular basement membrane; Ep, glomerular epithelial cells, podocytes; En, glomerular endothelial cells. Modified from Abrahamson 1987; Quaggin and Kreidberg 2008.

Composition and morphological features of the SD

The tight junction protein Zonula occludens-1 (ZO-1) was the first protein which was localized to the mature SD and therefore the SD was first described as a derivative of the tight junction (Schnabel et al., 1990). Later, other tight junction-associated proteins were detected in the SD including membrane-associated guanylate kinase inverted-1 (MAGI-1) (Hirabayashi et al., 2005), MAGI-2 (Lehtonen et al., 2005), calmodulinassociated serin/threonin kinase (CASK) (Lehtonen et al., 2004), junctional adhesion molecule-1 (JAM-1), occluding and cingulin (Fukasawa et al., 2009). Tight junctions function in maintaining apico-basal polarity (Shin et al., 2006) and they provide a cellular barrier for the transport of water, ions and proteins (Anderson, 2001). The SD polarizes podocytes, but in contrast to the tight junction, it contains a wider intercellular space (40 nm) and morphologically it resembles more adherens junctions (~20 nm). In fact, adherens junction protein P-cadherin has been localized to the SD and, therefore, the SD is suggested to be a modified adherens junction (Reiser et al., 2000) (See Figure 3). The cytoplasmic area of the SD contains an electron dense region which shares similarities with cytoplasmic plaques of desmosomes. The intercellular width of desmosome (34 nm) is also close to that of SD (40nm) (Farguhar et al., 1961; Garrod and Chidgey, 2008), but in spite of that desmosomal components have not been detected in the mature SD (Garrod and Fleming, 1990). During differentiation podocytes seem to lose the typical epithelial cell characteristics and become highly specialized cells connected with a unique junction, that is, the SD.



Figure 3: The SD contains components of adherens and tight junctions as well as members of the immunoglobulin superfamily. ZO-1, zonula-occludens-1; CD2AP, CD2-associated protein.

#### 7. The role of nephrin in the SD

The crucial SD protein nephrin belongs to the immunoglubulin (lg) superfamily of proteins which have been shown to act as adhesion molecules (Obrink, 1997; Irie et al., 2004). Nephrin has eight Ig-like domains, a fibronectin type III module and a short intracellular region containing nine potential tyrosine phosphorylation sites (Kestila *et al.*, 1998). Based on the structure of nephrin and the finding, that without nephrin the SD cannot be formed, it was first speculated that nephrin would contribute to the adhesion and signalling pathways necessary for the SD assembly. More than ten years of research have provided evidence that nephrin, in fact, is a signalling molecule which participates together with other SD components in podocyte actin cytoskeleton organization as well as anti-apoptotic and  $Ca^{2+}$  signalling.

#### Nephrin is a signalling molecule

The first clue that nephrin may serve as a signalling protein was provided by showing that nephrin localizes in podocytes into lipid rafts (Simons et al., 2001), which are dynamic specialized plasma membrane assemblies enriched with signalling molecules (Rajendran and Simons, 2005). Nephrin has been shown to be tyrosine phoshorylated after antibody-induced clustering by Src family kinases (Lahdenpera et al., 2003). Closer examination revealed that the Src family member Fyn, which has also been localized to the SD, was able to directly phosphorylate nephrin. In addition, Fyn deficient mice, which develop foot process effacement show decreased phosphorylation of nephrin supporting that the phosphorylation occurs also in vivo and it may have a role in podocyte injury (Verma et al., 2003). Similarly, in puromycin aminonucleoside nephrosis (PAN) model in rat the tyrosine phosphorylation of nephrin is decreased (Zhu et al., 2008; Jones et al., 2009). On the contrary, in experimental animal models of passive Heymann nephritis (rat) and protamine sulpfate nephrosis (mouse) which are both characterized by foot process alterations, the tyrosine phosphorylation of nephrin is increased (Li et al., 2004; Verma et al., 2006). It was also shown that tyrosine phosphorylation of nephrin was transiently seen during podocyte development in the capillary loop stage in mouse whereas the phosphorylation is not detected in mature murine podocytes (Verma et al., 2006). Thus the balance between nephrin phosphorylation and dephosphorylation seems important for the modulation of the SD structure.

#### Nephrin organizes podocyte actin cytoskeleton

Nephrin associates with actin (Yuan et al., 2002) and also with SD and actin associating proteins, such as CD2-associated protein (CD2AP) (Lehtonen et al., 2002; Palmen et al., 2002), CASK (Lehtonen et al., 2005; Biederer and Sudhof, 2001) and alpha-actinin-4 (Honda et al., 1998; Lehtonen et al., 2005) suggesting that it may organize podocyte actin cytoskeleton. Clustering of nephrin in the plane of plasma membrane has been shown to lead to tyrosine phosphorylation of nephrin by Fyn. The tyrosine phosphorylated nephrin is able to to bind to Nck and this complex induces actin polymerization which is likely mediated by Nck binding proteins and components of actin polymerization machinery, including neural Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein (N-WASp) and Arp2/3 (Verma et al., 2006; Jones et al., 2006; Li et al., 2001) (Figure 4). Nck1/Nck2 deletion in mouse both in utero and in adult leads to podocyte foot process effacement resembling nephrin deficiency in mouse. This indicates that the nephrin-Nck interaction may be important also in vivo. Furthermore, the insufficient development of podocyte foot processes in Nck1/Nck2 deficient mice suggests that the Nck-nephrin induced actin polymerization may be important for foot process formation (Jones et al., 2006; Jones et al., 2009). The directed actin polymerization plays a central role also in the formation of cell-cell contacts by providing force to bring two plasma membranes in close vicinity (Vasioukhin et al., 2000). Therefore, the nephrin-Nck induced actin polymerization is also proposed to be involved in the formation of the SD (Verma et al., 2006).



Figure 4: Clustering of nephrin leads to its phophorylation by Fyn and consequent actin polymerization via Nck and actin organizing proteins Arp2/3 and N-WASp.

Nephrin has also been shown to organize actin cytoskeleton by another signalling pathway. Nephrin phosphorylation by Fyn has been shown to create a binding site in nephrin for p85, which is a regulatory subunit of phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K). The interaction results in the recruitment of catalytic p110 subunit of PI3K which leads to conversion of phosphatidylinositol (4,5) bisphosphate (PIP<sub>2</sub>) into phosphatidylinositol-(3,4,5) trisphosphate (PIP<sub>3</sub>) and activation of serine threonine kinase AKT. This signalling pathway was shown to decrease the formation of stress fibers in cultured rat podocytes (Zhu *et al.*, 2008). Nephrin-mediated PI3K signalling activates also Rac, a member of Rho family of small GTPases (Burridge *et al.*, 2004) and this pathway in turn was shown to increase formation of membrane ruffles in cultured rat podocytes (Zhu *et al.*, 2008).

The relevance of these *in vitro* formed actin structures in podocyte foot processes *in vivo* remains to be clarified. In cultured podocytes stress fibers have been shown to increase upon differentiation associated with the conversion of the cells with cobblestone characteristics into arborized morphology. Therefore, it has been speculated that these long actin filaments would be important for formation of podocyte foot processes (Mundel *et al.*, 1997). Plasma membrane ruffles (lamellipodia and filopodia) in turn are required for cell migration (Le Clainche and Carlier, 2008), which is suggested to play a role during foot process formation (Zhu *et al.*, 2008) and effacement (Reiser *et al.*, 2004).

#### Nephrin regulates Ca<sup>2+</sup> signalling

Nephrin has also been shown to play a role in the modulation of cytosolic Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration via phospholipase C-v1 (PLC-v1). Clustering-induced phosphorylation of nephrin leads to binding and activation of PLC- $\gamma$ 1 which generates inositol (1,4,5) trisphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>) and consequently elevation of Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels originating from endoplasmic reticulum (Harita et al., 2009) (Figure 5). Ca<sup>2+</sup> spiking is known to induce various signalling cascades which lead to activation of cellular processes including differentiation, proliferation, and apoptosis (Berridge et al., 2000). Since both nephrin and PLC-y1 become phosphorylated in injured podocytes of protamine sulphate treated rats, it has been suggested that their activation may cause Ca2+ spiking which may induce morphological podocyte alterations seen in the rat model (Harita et al., 2009). Interestingly, mutations in a gene encoding PLC- $\varepsilon 1$  associate with a nephrotic syndrome with diffuse mesangial sclerosis (Hinkes et al., 2006). PLC-E1 does not contain an SH2 domain which binds to tyrosine phosphorylated nephrin. However, since different subtypes of PLC have been shown to function together (Rebecchi and Pentyala, 2000), the hypothesis that PLC- $\epsilon$ 1 would be in the same complex with the nephrin- PLC-y1 complex and play a role in the regulation of podocyte morpholy together with nephrin and PLC-y1 is an interesting possibility.

Nephrin interacts also with Transient Receptor Potential Cation Channel 6 (TRPC6) which is a calcium channel belonging to the canonical TRP subfamily that is activated by diacylglycerol (DAG) (Reiser *et al.*, 2005; Clapham, 2003). TRPC6 has also been shown to be up-regulated in nephrin deficient mouse kidneys (Reiser *et al.*, 2005). Even though the functional relevance of the interaction is not known, mutations in the gene encoding TRPC6 have been associated with focal and segmental glomerulosclerosis

(FSGS) (Winn *et al.*, 2005; Reiser *et al.*, 2005) making it an interesting binding partner for nephrin. *In vitro* investigations have shown that these mutations cause increased calcium influx into cells upon DAG activation indicating that Ca<sup>2+</sup> spiking may trigger signals leading to podocyte injury in FSGS (Winn *et al.*, 2005). The TRPC6-mediated podocyte injury hypothesis is further supported by the data showing that the expression of TRPC6 is increased in podocytes in patients with membranous glomerulonephritis as well as in rat models of passive Heymann nephritis and PAN. Furthermore, PA-treated cultured podocytes show elevated Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx upon DAG activation (Moller *et al.*, 2007). Since PLC-  $\gamma$ 1 has been shown to bind and regulate TRPC3, which shares homology with TRCP6 (van Rossum *et al.*, 2005), and TRPC6 is activated through DAG and IP<sub>3</sub> produced by PLC- $\gamma$ 1 (Montell, 2005), it has been suggested that TRPC6 and PLC- $\gamma$ 1 may cooperatively mediate Ca<sup>2+</sup> signalling in podocytes together with nephrin (Figure 5).



Figure 5: Schematic presentation of the hypothesis how nephrin and TRPC6 may regulate  $Ca^{2+}$  signalling in podocytes. DAG, diacylglyserol; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; PIP<sub>2</sub>, phosphatidylinositol (4,5) bisphosphate, PLC-  $\gamma$ 1, phospholipase-C- $\gamma$ 1; IP<sub>3</sub>, inositol (1,4,5) trisphosphate.

#### Nephrin sends anti-apoptotic signals

Nephrin-dependent activation of PI3K-induced AKT signalling has also been shown to play a role in another cellular event, apoptosis. Nephrin-dependent AKT phosphorylation decreased apoptosis of cultured mouse podocytes via anti-apoptotic signalling protein Bad (Huber *et al.*, 2003). Similarly, nephrin binding partner CD2AP inhibited apoptosis in cultured podocytes. Furthermore, binding of CD2AP to nephrin facilitated AKT signalling suggesting that they may cooperatively inhibit apoptosis (Huber *et al.*, 2003). CD2AP deficient mouse kidneys show increased podocyte apoptosis compared to control mice (Schiffer *et al.*, 2004), whereas podocytes of neither nephrin deficient mice nor CNF patients are apoptotic (Kuusniemi *et al.*, 2006; Done *et al.*, 2008). The results indicate that nephrin loss alone does not induce apoptosis at least during development. However, this does not exclude the possibility that nephrin would play a role in apoptosis, for example, in acquired diseases in

adulthood. Furthermore, nephrin has also been shown to bind to dendrin, which is translocated to nucleus upon podocyte injury and induces apoptosis suggesting that nephrin may also regulate apoptosis via dendrin (Asanuma *et al.*, 2007).

#### Nephrin binds to evolutionarily conserved polarization complex

Nephrin has been shown to bind to Par3-Par6-atypical protein kinase-C (aPKC) complex (Hartleben *et al.*, 2008), which is an evolutionarily conserved cell polarization complex (Assemat *et al.*, 2008). The Par3-Par6-aPKC $\lambda$  complex is essential for differentiation of immature spot-like (puncta) adherens junctions into belt-like and tight junctions, which is a crucial step for creating apico-basal polarity during epithelial cell polarization (Suzuki *et al.*, 2002). Similarly, in podocytes this complex is essential for polarization, because the podocyte-specific deletion of aPKC $\lambda$  in mouse leads to mislocalization of the SDs which is associated with foot process effacement and proteinuria (Huber *et al.*, 2009; Hirose *et al.*, 2009). During podocyte development Par3 and aPKC $\lambda$  are present at the early S-shape body stage whereas nephrin appears at the late S-shape body stage and early capillary loop stage indicating that the Par3-Par6- aPKC $\lambda$  complex could direct the localization of nephrin to the SD. Nephrin in turn may be important for stabilizing the nascent SD by organizing actin cytoskeleton (Huber *et al.*, 2009). It has also been shown that aPKC $\lambda$  may play a role in localizing nephrin into lipid rafts (Hirose *et al.*, 2009).

## 8. Nephrin-like proteins

#### Establishing the Neph family

Donoviel et al identified nephrin-like protein termed Neph1 from the mouse gene trap database and consequently disrupted the gene by using the gene-trapping technology. Neph1 deficient mice developed podocyte foot process effacement, lack of SD and proteinuria, a phenotype that resembles nephrin deficiency (Donoviel et al., 2001; Rantanen et al., 2002; Putaala et al. 2001). The other Neph family members Neph2 and Neph3 (filtrin) were found by using Neph1 and nephrin sequences for database Neph1-3 have similar structure composed of five extracellular searches. immunoglobulin-like repeats, transmembrane domain and a short intracellular region (Sellin et al., 2003; Ihalmo et al., 2003). Furthermore, they all localize to the SD (Liu et al., 2003; Barletta et al., 2003; Gerke et al., 2005; Ihalmo et al., 2007), interact with SD protein podocin similarly as nephrin, and also bind to actin binding scaffolding protein ZO-1 (Sellin et al., 2003; Huber et al., 2003). In addition, Neph1 and Neph2 have been shown to form homodimers and heterodimers with nephrin (Liu et al., 2003; Gerke et al., 2003; Gerke et al., 2005; Barletta et al., 2003). Since many immunoglobulin superfamily proteins play a role in the formation of the cell-cell contacts via homophilic and heterophilic interactions (Obrink, 1997; Irie et al., 2004), it has been suggested that nephrin and Nephs would act in the same way in SD.

#### Neph1 is a signalling and actin organizing protein

Neph1 localizes to lipid rafts, the plasma membrane signalling centres, suggesting that it may act as a signalling protein similarly as nephrin (Barletta *et al.*, 2003). Indeed, Neph1 has been shown to activate transcription factor activating protein-1 (AP-1) (Sellin *et al.*, 2003), which mediates gene regulation responses leading to various cellular events (Hess *et al.*, 2004). Furthermore, Neph1 dependent AP-1 activation is augmented by the Tec family of tyrosine kinases and ZO-1 interaction (Sellin *et al.*, 2003).

Neph1 is also tyrosine phosphorylated by Fyn which enables Neph1 to bind to growth factor receptor-bound protein 2 (Grb2). The activated complex has been shown to suppress Ras-Erk signalling cascades (Harita *et al.*, 2008; Lowenstein *et al.*, 1992) and induce actin polymerization (Garg *et al.*, 2007) presumably by activating N-WASp/Arp2/3 complex (Carlier *et al.*, 2000). It has also been shown that the activated Nephrin-Nck and Neph1-Grb2 complexes are able to cooperatively induce actin polymerization (Garg *et al.*, 2007). Furthermore, in a rat PAN model both nephrin and Neph1 show increased tyrosine phosphorylation associated with stronger interactions with their adaptor proteins Nck and Grb2, respectively. Therefore, the nephrin and Neph1 induced actin polymerization may play a role in disrupting the SD leading to podocyte foot process effacement in the PAN model (Garg *et al.*, 2007).

#### Neph2 is cleaved by a protease

The function and importance of Neph2 for the SD is largely unknown. Similarly as Neph1, it is known to activate AP-1 and it also contains a binding site for Grb2 suggesting that it initiates signalling cascades in podocytes (Sellin *et al.*, 2003). It has been shown that the extracellular domain of Neph2 can be cleaved by membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase (MT1-MMP). Furthermore, it has been shown that patients with membranous glomerulonephritis showed increased amounts of extracellular fragments of Neph2 in urine compared to healthy controls. In addition, the intracellular domain of Neph2 was also shown to be cleaved. However, the biological function of these Neph2 fragments is unknown (Gerke *et al.*, 2005).

#### Neph3 is down-regulated in acquired proteinuric kidney diseases

The *NLG1* gene encoding Neph3 localizes next to *NPHS1* gene encoding nephrin in chromosome 19 (19q13.12) and they are transcribed to opposite directions. Therefore, it has been suggested that *NLG1* and *NPHS1* may share common regulatory elements for gene expression (Ihalmo *et al.*, 2003). The mRNA expression of nephrin and Neph3 are both down-regulated in the kidneys of diabetic nephropathy patients. In addition, their expression levels show positive correlation, which indicates that they may have common gene regulatory mechanism (Toyoda *et al.*, 2004; Ihalmo *et al.*, 2007). The mRNA expression of Neph3 is also down-regulated in other human proteinuric diseases including FSGS, minimal change disease (MCD), hypertensive nephropathy and membranous glomerulonephropathy indicating that Neph3 loss may be a general phenomenon in podocyte injury (Ihalmo *et al.*, 2007). Since Sp1 and NF-  $\kappa$ B transcription factors have been shown to regulate Neph3 gene expression under basal conditions (Ristola *et al.*, 2009), they may also play a role in regulating Neph3

expression under pathological conditions, which, however, remains to be clarified. As in the case of Neph2, the importance of Neph3 for the formation of the SD is not known.

# 9. The role of nephrin and Nephs orthologues in Drosophila and C. elegans

Genes encoding nephrin and Nephs are conserved throughout evolution. Even though *Drosophila* and *C.elegans* lack kidney structures comparable to SD, the role of nephrin and Nephs homologues in junctions during *Drosophila* muscle and eye development as well as during *C.elegans* synapse differentiation may bring mechanistic insight into how these molecules could act in the mammalian SD.

In *Drosophila*, nephrin orthologues Hibris (Hbs) and Stick and stones (Sns) and Nephs orthologues Dumfounded/Kin of Irregular-chiasm-C (Duf/kirre) and Irregular-chiasm-C/Roughest (IrreC/rst) have been shown to play a role in the development of somatic muscles (Dworak *et al.*, 2001; Bour *et al.*, 2000; Ruiz-Gomez *et al.*, 2000; Strunkelnberg *et al.*, 2001). The essential part of the development is myoblast fusion in which fusion competent myoblasts aggregate around a founder cell. Hbs and Sns are expressed in fusion competent myoblasts, and Duf/kirre is expressed in founder cells. IrreC/rst is expressed in both cell types and shows homophilic adhesion activity. Hbs and Sns in turn show heterophilic adhesion activity with Duf/kirre. Therefore, their transinteractions are suggested to be important for the myoblast fusion (Dworak, 2002). Recently nephrin was also shown to be involved in myoblast fusion in mouse and zebrafish during muscle development indicating that this pathway may be evolutionally conserved (Sohn *et al.*, 2009).

Hbs and IrreC/rst are also involved in *Drosophila* in formation of an eye unit, termed the ommatidia (Bao and Cagan, 2005). The differentiated *Drosophila* eye is composed of about 800 ommatidia in which photoreceptor cells, lens-secreting cone cells and primary pigment cells are ordered in a highly organized manner (Carthew, 2007). Hbs and IrreC/rst are expressed in different cell types and their heterophilic transinteraction induces selective cell adhesion which is required for proper patterning of the ommatidia (Bao *et al.*, 2005).

In *C.elegans*, nephrin and Nephs orthologues SYG-2 and SYG-1, respectively, play a role in synapse formation. They have been shown to specify the localization of synapse through their trans-interaction. SYG-2 is expressed in vulval epithelium in synaptic guidepost cells and SYG-1 is expressed in hermaphrodite-specific neurons (HSNL). SYG-2 induces clustering of SYG-1 in HSNL most probably through direct interaction which consequently leads to accumulation of synaptic vesicles near SYG-1 and formation of synapse into vulval muscle and ventral cord type neurons (Shen and Bargmann, 2003; Shen *et al.*, 2004).

## 10. Cadherin superfamily

#### P-cadherin and VE-cadherin

The SD was regarded as a modified adherens junction after Reiser and co-workers localized classical type I cadherin, placental cadherin (P-cadherin), to SD (Reiser *et al.*, 2000). Later on, related atypical (type II) cadherin, vascular endothelial cadherin (VE-cadherin), was localized at the SD area (Cohen *et al.*, 2006). Both cadherins have five extracellular cadherin domains and show Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent homophilic cell adhesion activity, although VE-cadherin shows weaker adhesion activity than P-cadherin. They are also both linked to the actin cytoskeleton via  $\alpha$ -and  $\beta$ -catenins which is necessary for their full adhesion activity (Nose and Takeichi, 1986; Tanihara *et al.*, 1994; Breviario *et al.*, 1995). Deletion of P-cadherin in mouse leads to mammary gland hyperplacia and dysplacia later in life (Radice *et al.*, 1997), but no defects have been described in podocytes indicating that it is not crucial for the SD formation and maintenance, or its function is substituted by other classical cadherins. VE-cadherin deficient mice in turn die during gestation due to severe vascular defects (Gory-Faure *et al.*, 1999). Therefore, in order to know whether VE-cadherin is essential for formation of the SD, a podocyte specific knock-out mouse line should be established.

#### P-cadherin expression in diabetic glomeruli and developing podocytes

P-cadherin expression is decreased in glomeruli of streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats having proteinuria (Xu et al., 2005), which indicates that its loss may be associated with morphological podocyte alterations observed in the model. Furthermore, injection of P-cadherin antibody into rats leads to proteinuria (Liu et al., 2003). P-cadherin also forms a complex with nephrin (Lehtonen et al., 2004), but its expression is not altered in patients with CNF (Ruotsalainen et al., 2000). P-cadherin is expressed at higher levels during podocyte development in the S-shape body and capillary loop stage than in the mature SD (Ruotsalainen et al., 2000). It has also been shown that P-cadherin and alpha- and  $\beta$ -catenin are expressed during podocyte development but not in mature podocytes (Yaoita et al., 2002). The discrepancy of P-cadherin expression in mature podocytes (Ruotsalainen et al., 2000; Yaoita et a., I 2002; Xu et al., 2005; Lehtonen et al., 2004) may be due to differences in antibody sensitivities used in the studies, but it also indicates that cadherin/catenin expression is reduced during podocyte maturation. Collectively, based on the above P-cadherin seems not to be essential for the SD assembly, but may play a role in the modulation of the SD in certain pathological stages including diabetic nephropathy. Furthermore, since P-cadherin is able to form a complex with nephrin, it may contribute to modulation of the SD together with nephrin.

A cadherin superfamily member Fat1 regulates podocyte actin dynamics

A cadherin superfamily member Fat, which belongs to Fat cadherins, also localizes at the SD (Inoue et al., 2001) and is shown to be crucial for the formation of the SD in mouse (Ciani et al., 2003). Fat1 was first identified in Drosophila and was shown to function in cell proliferation and planar cell polarization (Bryant et al., 1988; Mahoney et al., 1991; Yang et al., 2002). In mammals it has been shown to regulate actin dynamics via Ena/vasodilator-stimulated phosphoproteins and it plays a role in migration, adhesion and polarization of cells (Tanoue and Takeichi, 2004; Moeller et al., 2004). Fat1 is a huge molecule (~500 kDa) which has an unusually large extracellular part containing 34 cadherin domains and therefore it has been speculated to serve as a spacer between adult podocyte foot processes. Similarly to P-cadherin, Fat1 is expressed at a higher level in S-shaped bodies and early capillary loop stage during podocyte development than in mature SD. In these early migrating junctional complexes Fat1 co-localizes with classical cadherins indicating that it may contribute to early junction formation together with cadherins (Yaoita et al., 2005). This is consistent with the finding that Fat1 expression is down-regulated in confluent Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cells, and it has been suggested to coordinate early junction formation with cadherins (Tanoue et al., 2004). The expression of Fat1 is increased in the rat PAN model in which SDs are replaced by tight-junction like structures and foot processes are effaced (Yaoita et al., 2005). Taken together, Fat1-regulated actin dynamics may be important for SD assembly as well as may take part in molecular pathways leading to disruption of the SD and morphological podocyte alterations upon podocyte iniury.

## 11. Transgenic mouse models

Transgenic mouse models are important in investigating whether a single SD protein is essential for the formation or maintence of the SD. Mouse and human podocytes share expression of most of the known SD components indicating that the results obtained from transgenic mouse models may be useful in deciphering the molecular pathways leading to SD injury and consequent proteinuria in humans. Nephrin is a good example, since deletion of the nephrin gene in mice mimics accurately the phenotype of podocytes of patients with CNF (Putaala *et al.*, 2001; Rantanen *et al.*, 2002). Since in this thesis work transgenic mouse models were used, a brief overview of the basic techniques is given below.

Transgenic technology in the mouse was developed over 30 years ago by infecting mouse embryos with viruses (Jaenisch and Mintz, 1974; Jaenisch, 1976). Later on, Gordon *et al* developed a technique to microinject DNA to the pronuclei of a fertilized mouse oocyte (Gordon *et al.*, 1980), which is still widely used. The integration of the DNA in this technique may occur during the one cell stage or for example, during the four cell stage which may cause the mouse to be mosaic for the transgene. Furthermore, since integration is random it may affect endogenous genes. The next step in developing the technique was taken when embryonic stem cells were isolated

and cultured. This allowed genetic manipulations to be done in embryonic stem cell cultures (Evans and Kaufman, 1981; Martin, 1981) followed by injection of the manipulated cells into mouse blastocysts (Gossler *et al.*, 1986). The invention of a homologous recombination technique enabled the generation of a mouse in which a specific gene is deleted or mutated (Thomas *et al.*, 1986; Thompson *et al.*, 1989).

Classical knock-out vectors have been used to show that nephrin (Putaala et al., 2001), podocin (Roselli et al., 2004) and Neph1 (Donoviel et al., 2001), for instance, are essential for the formation of the SD structure. However, this technology limits the possibility to investigate the function of podocyte proteins which are also essential for other types of cells in the body or for early developmental processes. The invention of Cre/loxP-mediated recombination solved this problem by allowing the generation of tissue-specific knockouts. In this technique one mouse line expresses a bacteriophage P1 enzyme, Cre recombinase, under the control of a tissue specific promoter. In the other mouse line the gene of interest is flanked by 34-basepair loxP sequences. When these two mouse lines are crossed, the tissue specific expression of Cre causes recombination of a loxP flanked gene in a tissue-specific manner. This technology has been used for showing that the widely expressed actin organizing protein Nck is essential for the formation of the SD and proper podocyte morphology (Jones et al., 2006). To further evaluate whether single proteins are essential for a certain stage of podocyte development or mature podocyte, a technique in which Cre expression is controlled by doxycyclin (Schonig et al., 2002) or tamoxifen (Metzger et al., 1995) has also been developed for podocytes (Juhila et al., 2006). This technology has been used to show that Nck is important for maintaining the SD structure in mature podocytes (Jones et al., 2009).

Large-scale mouse mutagenesis techniques have also been developed and programmes using these techniques have been going on already over ten years which aim to establish public resources for mutant mouse lines. N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea (ENU) is a mutagen which randomly induces point mutations in a genome-wide manner. The screening is phenotype-driven and individual mutations are identified by genome-wide or regional screening (Russell *et al.*, 1979; Justice *et al.*, 1999; Hrabe de Angelis *et al.*, 2000). Gene-trap technology is in turn a technology in which specific vectors termed gene trap vectors are randomly inserted into mouse genome. The gene trap vector contains a promoterless reporter gene (lacZ) and when inserted into a gene, it causes the formation of a fusion transcript of coding sequence and a reporter gene. This leads to disruption of the gene and allows also monitoring the expression of the gene by the reporter gene (Stanford *et al.*, 2001).

## 12. Podocyte injury

Insights from genetic mouse models and human genetics

Podocyte foot process effacement is the most common characteristic in human glomerular diseases and in experimental animal models with proteinuria. Investigations on genetic mouse models have revealed that genetic mutations affecting proteins crucial for the SD assembly, podocyte-GBM connection, podocyte actin cytoskeleton organization, and proper apical domain composition of podocytes can lead to foot process effacement and proteinuria. The crucial SD proteins in mouse have been shown not only to serve as structural proteins for the SD but also to participate in molecular pathways leading to actin cytoskeleton organization, polarization and antiapoptotic signalling. They include both transmembrane proteins bridging across the SD as well as cytosolic adapter proteins tethering the transmembrane proteins to the actin cytoskeleton and signalling pathways. Lack of some of these proteins leads to heavy proteinuria already at birth (nephrin, podocin) whereas in some other cases (Fyn, aactinin-4) the deficiency leads to proteinuria later in life indicating that these proteins would rather play a role in maintaining the integrity of the SD (Michaud et al., 2007) (see Table 1 for summary). Some of these crucial SD proteins in the mouse have also been associated with human glomerular diseases of which nephrin is the most famous, since lack of it causes severe proteinuria and consequent death without kidney transplantation (Kestila et al., 1998). Podocin is associated with autosomal recessive steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome in which proteinuria starts also at childhood (Boute *et al.*, 2000). Similarly as in the mouse,  $\alpha$ -actinin-4 is associated with late onset of proteinuria in FSGS (Kaplan et al., 2000). (Table 2).

Gene	Subcellular	Onset of	Viability	Function	Reference
disruption	localization	proteinuria			
nephrin	transmembrane,	within 24 bours	die within 24 hours	actin	(Rantanen <i>et</i>
	igo supertaining	nours	24110015	anti-apoptotic,	Putaala <i>et al.</i> ,
				Ca <sup>2+</sup> signalling	2001)
Neph1	transmembrane,	within 1-3	die within	actin organization	(Donoviel et
	IgG superfamily	days	1-12 days		al., 2001)
Fat1	transmembrane,	not	die within	actin organization	(Ciani <i>et al.,</i>
	Fat cadherins	determined	48 hours		2003)
podocin	hairpin-like integral	within 24	die within 5	signalling	(Roselli <i>et al.,</i>
	membrane protein,	hours	weeks		2004)
	Stomatin				
Evn	cytosolic	within 3-4	die within	signalling	Nuetal
i yii	Src family kinase	months	60 weeks	Signating	2001)
alpha-	cytosolic,	later in life	some die	actin cross-	(Dandapani et
actinin-4	superfamily of actin-	(not	during	linking,	al., 2007; Kos
	binding proteins	specified)	perinatal	tethering	<i>et al.,</i> 2003)
			period,	transmembrane	
			others	proteins to actin	
			survive till		
			later in life		
aPKC	evolutionary	at 4 weeks	die within	polarization	(Huber et al.,
	conserved polarity		4-5 weeks		2009)
	protein		of age		
CD2AP	cytosolic adapter	shortly after	die at 6	anti-apoptotic,	(Shih et al.,
	protein	birth (not	weeks of	actin organization	1999)
	•	specified)	age	-	
Nck1	SH2/3 domain	at birth	later in life	actin organization	(Jones et al.,
Nck2	containing adapter		(not		2006)
	protein		specified)		

Table 1: Deletion of genes encoding essential SD proteins and their binding partners in the mouse.

Mutated genes	Protein family	Syndromes	References
Early onset:			
CD2AP	cytosolic adapter protein	focal and segmental glomerular sclerosis	(Kim <i>et al.,</i> 2003)
Nephrin	lgG superfamily	congenital nephrotic syndrome of the Finnish type	(Kestila <i>et al.,</i> 1998)
Podocin	stomatin superfamily	autosomal recessive steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome	(Boute <i>et al.</i> , 2000)
Late onset:			
<b>α</b> -actinin-4	cytosolic, supefamily of actin- binding protein	familial focal and segmental glomerular sclerosis	(Kaplan <i>et al.,</i> 2000)
TRCP6	canonical transient receptor potential subfamily	focal and segmental glomerular sclerosis	(Winn <i>et al.,</i> 2005; Reiser <i>et al.,</i> 2005)

Table 2: Mutated genes encoding SD proteins and their binding partners causing human nephrotic syndromes

Insights from experimental rodent models

The genetic mouse models provide information about molecular mechanisms which are important to either proper SD assembly or maintenance of the integrity of the SD. However, the drastic phenotypes of the mice rarely mimic the human glomerular diseases even though there are exceptions like CNF. In most cases the development of proteinuria in glomerular diseases is suggested to be a combination of environmental and genetic factors. Therefore, characterizing rodent models in which proteinuria is induced by challenging glomerular filtration barrier in different ways as well as investigating biopsies obtained from patients with acquired glomerular diseases is essential to further understand the pathophysiological mechanisms of glomerular diseases.

Podocyte injury can be manifested in the mouse or rat by injections of toxic substances including adriamycin (adrimycin nephrosis in mouse) or puromycin aminonucleoside (PAN model in rat) or by challenging them with excess amount of albumin (albumin overload model in mouse and rat) (Table 3). In some of the models the morphological findings share close similarities with human diseases. The PAN model in rat has been suggested to resemble MCD in humans (Messina *et al.*, 1987), adriamycin nephrosis in turn shares characteristics with FSGS (Chen *et al.*, 1998) and some of the pathological findings from passive Heymann nephritis in the rat are similar to human membranous nephropathy (Pippin *et al.*, 2009). However, the comparison between rodent models and human diseases should not be over-simplified.

Many of the models share similar characteristics including foot process effacement (Figure 4) and formation of tight junctions between the foot processes. In some models like protamine sulphate, these alterations occur already 10 minutes after treatment

and are reversible, whereas in other models (adriamycin and PAN model) the development of podocyte injury takes even one week. Some of the well-characterized models work only with the rat (PAN and protamine sulphate models) and many of the models are very strain-dependent. Genetic deletions are usually made in mouse, which excludes the possibility to study the role of a single gene during development of podocyte injury for example in well-characterized PAN or/and protamine sulphate models (Pippin *et al.*, 2009) that can be used only for rats.

normal podocyte foot processes podocyte foot process effacement

Figure 4: Podocyte foot process effacement in PAN model. The podocyte foot process effacement is characterized by broadening of the foot processes as well as a decreased number of podocyte foot processes and filtration slits. BM, glomerular basement membrane; En, glomerular endothelial cells; fp, normal podocyte foot processes and Ep, effaced podocyte foot process. Modified from (Takeda et al., 2001).

Animal model	Mechanisms	Species	Onset of proteinuria	Podocyte phenotype	References
Protamine sulphate model	altering anionic charges of the glomerular filter	rat	40-70 minutes	Rapid reversible foot process effacement (10-15 minutes after treatment), formation of tight junctions, apical displacement of SDs	(Seiler <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 1975; Kurihara <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 1992)
Lipopolysaccari- de model	Immunological	mouse	24-72 hours	Foot process effacement (within 24 hours)	(Reiser <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2004)
Protein/ albumin overload	increasing filtration rate by excess amount of albumin	rat, mouse	6-24 hours (repeatable injections of albumin to obtain continuous proteinuria)	Foot process effacement, detachment of podocytes from the GBM and accumulation of pinocytic vesicles, protein absorption droplets and vacuoles	(Anderson and Recant, 1962; Davies <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1985; Weening <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1987)
Passive Heymann nephritis	immunological (accumulation of immune deposits)	rat	4-6 days	Foot process effacement, formation of tight junctions, detachment of podocytes from the GBM and loss of SDs	(Heymann et al., 1959; Kerjaschki et al., 1987; Schneeberg er and Grupe, 1976)
Adriamycin nephrosis	toxic	rat, mouse	5-7 days	Foot process effacement and fusion	(Wang <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2000)
PAN nephrosis	toxic	rat	4-6 days	Foot process effacement, formation of tight junctions, apical displacement of SDs, detachment of podocytes from the GBM and accumulation of protein absorption droplets and vacuoles	(Caulfield et al., 1976; Messina et al., 1987; Kurihara et al., 1992)

Table 3: Inducible rodent models with proteinuria

# AIMS OF THE PRESENT STUDY

The SD is an important structure for glomerular filtration function, since lack of or mutations in many SD components result in severe glomerular diseases. Nephrin is one of the essential SD components since without nephrin SDs are not formed resulting in massive proteinuria and severe nephrotic syndrome, CNF. However, detailed molecular mechanisms of how nephrin participates in the formation of this specialized cell-cell contact, the SD, are largely unknown. This thesis work has aimed at investigating the nephrin protein complex and its role in the formation and maintenance of the SD.

The specific aims of this thesis work were the following:

- I. To identify novel proteins belonging to nephrin protein complex in order to define the essential molecular complex required for the establishment of the SD.
- II. To gain novel insights of how nephrin and its binding partners may function in the formation of the SD.
- III. To investigate the expression and role of nephrin associating proteins in injured podocytes.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## 1. Clinical samples

Human kidney samples were used for immunofluorescence, reverse transcriptasepolymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR), immunoblotting and protein interaction investigations as described below. Kidney samples were obtained from CNF patients and cadaver donors unsuitable for transplantation due to vascular anatomic reasons. Normal human brain sample was received during surgery next to tumour tissue in temporal lobe from a young adult (Department of Surgery, University of Helsinki). All tissues were frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -70 °C (Study I).

## 2. Animals

#### Nephrin deficient mouse line

Nephrin TRAP mice were established in the GSF Center for Environment and Health, Institute of Mammalian Genetics (Neuherberg, Germany) (Hill and Wurst, 1993) and characterized in by Rantanen and colleagues (2002; Study IV).

Generation of inducible podocyte specific  $\beta$ -catenin knock-out mise

Podocyte-specific doxycycline-inducible Cre Recombinase construct was generated by using the core construct which has been previously published (Utomo *et al.*, 1999) and has been described earlier in (Juhila et al., 2006). Briefly, podocin promoter was cloned upstream of a gene encoding transcription factor reverse tetracycline-controlled transcriptional activator (rtTA) into the core construct containing rtTA-inducible promoter upstream a gene encoding Cre recombinase. The transgene was released from the backbone vector by restriction, purified and injected into fertilized oocytes of FVB/N mice. Genotyping of transgenic mice was performed with PCR using primers recognizing Cre (5'-gaccaggttcgttcactca-3' and 5'-tagcgccgtaaatcaat-3'). A transgenic mouse line containing *loxP* sites which flank  $\beta$ -catenin gene in B6.129 mouse strain was purchased from Jackson Laboratories (The Jackson Laboratories, Bar Harbor, ME). Podocyte-specific Cre mouse line was backcrossed for five generations and  $\beta$ -catenin floxed mouse line for 10 generation to C57BL/6J mouse strain. Bitransgenic mice were identified by PCR using primers detecting Cre (see above) and floxed  $\beta$ -catenin gene (5'aaggtagagtgatgaaagttgtt-3' and 5'-caccatgtcctctgtctattc-3'). At the age of 8 weeks the expression of Cre recombinase was induced by administration of 1 mg/ml of doxycycline supplemented with sucrose in drinking water for 2 weeks. β-catenin gene deletion was detected by PCR using 5'-aatcacagggacttccataccag-3' and 5'gcccagccttagcccaact-3'primers (Study III).

#### Adriamycin treatment

Doxycyclin-treated  $\beta$ -catenin deficient mice ( $\beta$ -cat<sup>fl/fl</sup>/Cre) and their controls carrying Cre recombinase ( $\beta$ -cat<sup>wt/wt</sup>/Cre) were tail vein-injected adriamycin. To measure urinary albumin excretion, 24h urine was collected in metabolic cages and urinary mouse albumin was measured at 3 and 6 six days after adriamycin treatment by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (Study III).

## 3. Cell lines

Different cell lines were used in this thesis work to investigate expression, proteinprotein interactions and function of nephrin and its associating proteins.

Cell line	Description	Culture medium	Supplier/ reference	Used in
Human podocytes	Primary culture of human podocytes	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10 % fetal bovine serum, 2.5 mM glutamine, 0.1 mM sodium pyruate, 5 mM HEPES, 100 U/ml penicillin, 0,1 mg/ml streptomycin, 2 mM glutamine, insulin, transferrin and 5 mM sodium selenite.	(Greiber <i>et al.,</i> 1998)	Ι
НЕК 293	Human embryonic kidney cell line	DMEM (1000 mg glucose/l) supplemented with 10 % fetal bovine serum, 100 U/ml penicillin, 0,1 mg/ml streptomycin and 2 mM glutamine	ATCC	II
Mouse podocyte cell line	Conditionally immortalized cells containing the temperature- sensitive SV40 large T antigen	RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 100 U/ml penicillin and 0,1 mg/ml streptomycin	(Schiwek <i>et al.,</i> 2004)	II
293T	Highly transfectable derivative of HEK 293 cell line	DMEM (4500 mg glucose/l) supplemented with 10 % fetal bovine serum, 100 U/ml penicillin, 0,1 mg/ml streptomycin, 2 mM glutamine and 25 mM Hepes	ATCC	IV
L-cells	Mouse L fibroblasts (L-929)	DMEM (4500 mg glucose/l) supplemented with 10 % fetal bovine serum, 100 U/ml penicillin, 0,1 mg/ml streptomycin, 2 mM glutamine and 25 mM Hepes	ATCC	IV

 Table 4: Summary of the cell lines used in the studies

## 4. Primary antibodies

The used antibodies are decribed in the original publications (Study I-III) and in the submitted manuscript (Study IV).

## 5. Constructs

Full-length and different parts of nephrin and its associating proteins were subcloned to mammalian and bacterial vectors (Table 5). The produced fusion proteins were used for protein-protein interaction assays and functional cell assays.

Protein	Species	Description	Vector	Reference	Used
			(supplier)		in
densin	human	full-length	pRK5-myc	(Izawa et al., 2002)	II
densin	mouse	full-length	pEGFP-N1 (Clontech laboratories)		II
densin	human	C-terminal fragment (amino acids 1242-1537) and its truncations	pGEX-6P-2 (Amersham Biosciences)		II
EGFP	jellyfish	full-length	pMSCVpuro (Clontech laboratories)		IV
Neph3	mouse	full-length	pMSCVpuro (Clontech laboratories)		IV
Neph3	mouse	full-length	pcDNA3.1/myc/his (InVitrogen)		IV
Neph3	human	extracellular domain	signal plgplus (R&D Systems)		IV
Neph3	human	intracellular domain	derivative of pCDM8 vector	(Tsiokas et al., 1997)	IV
Neph1	mouse	full-length	p-Babe-hygro	(Morgenste rn and Land, 1990)	IV
Neph1	mouse	intracellular domain	derivative of pCDM8 vector	(Tsiokas <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 1997)	IV
nephrin	rat	full-length	pcDNA3.1/myc/his (InVitrogen)		IV
nephrin	rat	full-length	pMSCVneo (Clontech laboratories)		IV
nephrin	human	intracellular domain	derivative of pCDM8 vector	(Tsiokas <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 1997)	IV

#### Table 5: Summary of the constructs used in the studies

## 6. Reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)

Total RNA was extracted from kidney and brain tissues as wells as from human podocytes using Trizol reagent. Genomic DNA was removed by DNase I treatment in the presence of human RNase inhibitor and cDNA was synthesized with the oligo dT15-primers and Moloney murine leukemia virus reverse transcriptase (M-MLV RT) in the presence of RNase inhibitor. PCR was performed using densin-specific primers (5'atgctttccctgacaactgg3' and 5'gtgtgtctgtgggtggactg3') and verified with another primer pair (5'gacaagccatcagataaca3' and 5'atgttgcactcgaatgacag3') (Study I).

## 7. Retroviral infection and establishment of stable cell lines

Retroviral constructs (Neph3-EGFP-pMSCVpuro, EGFP-pMSCVpuro or nephrinpMSCVneo) were co-transfected with packaging vector PKAT (Finer *et al.*, 1994) into 293T cells. Alternatively, retroviruses were produced by transfecting Phoenix Ampho packaging cell line (from Garry Nolan, Stanford University, Stanford, CA) with retroviral vector (Neph1-pBabe-hygro or pBabe-hygro). L-cells were infected with retroviral supernatants and puromycin, G418 and hygromycin were used to select for cells stably expressing nephrin, Neph1, Neph3 or EGFP.

## 8. Cell assays

#### Calcium switch assay

Cultured mouse podocytes were grown to confluence on coverslips and washed rapidly twice with calcium- and magnesium-free  $(Ca^{2+}/Mg^{2+}-free)$  Hanks balanced salt solution (HBSS). After that cells were first incubated in  $Ca^{2+}/Mg^{2+}$ -free HBSS for 20 min at 38 °C and then in normal culture medium (RPMI 1640) containing calcium for 100 min at 38 °C. HBSS containing calcium was used as a control in the experiments. Cells were fixed after 2 and 20 min without calcium and after 20 and 100 min in calcium containing medium for immunostaining (Study II).

#### Puromycin aminonucleoside model on cells

Confluent cultured mouse podocytes were maintained in culture medium supplemented with 100 µg/ml puromycin aminonucleoside for 24 h. Cells were fixed, immunostained and analyzed by immunofluorescence microscopy (Study II).

#### Hanging drop assay

Equal amounts of L-cells plated on the previous day were trypsinized, suspended in normal culture medium and drops of single cell suspension were placed on culture dish lids filled with PBS to avoid drying of the drops. After incubating the hanging drops 24 hours in a cell incubator ( $N_{24}$ ), the cells in the hanging drops were gently pipeted up and down or they were trypsinized ( $N_T$ ). After that the cells were fixed with glutaraldehyde, photographed by phase contrast microscope and the particles were counted. More than four cells in a cell aggregate was determined as a single particle. Total particle
number was calculated at each time point and aggregation index was calculated using the formula  $(N_T-N_{24})/N_T$ . Student t test was used for statistics (Study IV).

#### 9. Protein interaction studies

#### Co-immunoprecipitation assay on cell lysates

HEK 293 or 293T cells were transfected with desired plasmids and after about 48 hours cells were lysed on ice in lysis buffer supplemented with protease and phosphatase inhibitors. Insoluble material was removed by centrifugation and total protein concentration was measured. Cell lysates were pre-cleared with protein A or G sepharose followed by overnight incubation with primary antibodies or control IgGs. Protein A or G sepharose were used to capture antibody-protein complexes and unbound proteins were washed off with lysis buffer. Samples were boiled in Laemmli sample buffer and immunoblotted (Study II and IV).

#### Production of densin GST fusion proteins

C-terminal fragments of human densin were cloned into pGEX-6P-2 vector. Constructs were transformed into BL21 or DH5alpha and the expression of the fusion proteins was induced by isopropyl  $\beta$ -D-thiogalactosidase (IPTG). The fusion proteins were purified with gluthathione-sepharose beads and analyzed by SDS-PAGE and Coomassie staining (Study II).

#### Production of the extracellular domain of Neph3

The extracellular domain of human Neph3 was cloned into a signal plgplus vector which contains the signal sequence of CD33 and the FC domain of human IgG1 and is used for secreted expression in mammalian cells. The construct was transfected into 293T cells and after 48 hours, the culture medium was harvested, the recombinant protein was captured using protein A sepharose and unbound proteins were washed away. The purified protein and control protein containing only human IgG1 were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and Coomassie staining (Study IV).

#### Pull-down assays

Human or rat glomeruli were isolated by cutting cortical kidney tissue into small pieces and passing it through series of sieves of decreasing pore sizes ( $250 \mu m$ ,  $150 \mu m$  and  $75 \mu m$ ). Glomeruli were collected from the final collection sieve and the purity of the glomerular fraction was analyzed by microscopy. Glomeruli were lyzed on ice with glass-ware homogenizer in lysis buffer, the debris was removed by centrifugation, total protein concentration was measured and lysate was incubated with recombinant proteins conjugated to glutathione or protein A sepharose beads. Beads were washed with lysis buffer, boiled in Laemmli sample buffer and the samples were analyzed by immunoblotting (Study II and IV).

## 10. Immunoblotting

Proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE gels, electrotransferred to nitrocellulose or polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes and blocked with blocking buffer. Membranes were incubated with primary antibodies, washed and the bound antibodies were detected using secondary antibodies conjugated with horseradish peroxidase or fluorescent dye (Study I-IV).

#### 11. Immunofluorescence microscopy

Immunofluoresence microscopy on kidney tissues

Frozen kidney cortical tissue sections were fixed with PFA (followed by permeabilization with TritonX-100) or acetone. After PBS washes, sections were blocked with blocking solution and incubated with primary antibodies overnight. The following day sections were washed with PBS, incubated with fluorescently labelled secondary antibody followed by washing with PBS and mounting (Study I, III and IV).

#### Immunofluoresence microscopy on cultured cells

Cells on glass coverslips were washed with PBS and fixed with acetone or PFA (followed by permeabilization with TritonX-100). After PBS washes cells were blocked in the blocking solution, incubated with primary antibodies and washed. Antibody binding was visualized by fluorescently labelled secondary antibody and F-actin was detected by incubating cells with fluorocrome-conjugated phalloidin. Finally cells were washed and mounted in Mowiol (Study II and IV).

All specimens were examined by conventional or confocal microscopes.

#### Surface staining

Cells cultured on glass coverslips were incubated on ice with an antibody directed against the extracellular domain of nephrin (#033) followed by washes. Stained cells were fixed PFA at RT, blocked in the blocking solution and incubated with fluorescently labelled secondary antibody. After washes cells were mounted in Mowiol and viewed under confocal microscope (Study IV).

## 12. Immunohistochemistry

Kidneys were fixed with PFA, embedded in paraffin and cut into sections. Sections were first deparaffinized in xylene and then rehydrated through a graded series of ethanol (100% to 50%). For antigen retrieval, sections were heated in 10 mM citrate buffer pH 6 in microwave. Endogenous peroxidase activity was quenched with hydrogen peroxide followed by blocking and incubation with primary antibodies overnight. On the following day, sections were incubated with peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies and the peroxidase reaction was developed with AEC substrate. At the end, the sections were counterstained with hematoxylin, mounted and examined by light microscope (Study III).

#### 13. Electron and immunoelectron microscopy

#### Electron microscopy

Mouse kidney cortices were fixed in glutaraldehyde and postfixed in osmium tetroxide (OsO4). After fixing the cortices were stained en-block in uranyl acetate, dehydrated in ethanol and embedded in LX112. Thin sections were incubated with uranyl acetate and lead citrate and viewed with a JEM-1400 Transmission Electron Microscope (Study III).

#### Immunoelectron microscopy

Rat kidney cortices were fixed with formaldehyde followed by embedding in Lowicryl K4M. Ultrathin sections were blocked with in the blocking solution and incubated with anti-densin antibody followed by anti-rabbit gold conjugate (Study I).

#### Quantification of podocyte foot process effacement

The number of podocyte foot processes per  $\mu$ m of GBM in mouse glomeruli was measured from electron micrographs using ImageJ-program which was calibrated by the marker bar. Four to five random glomeruli from each mouse were measured. From each glomerulus the length of five random capillaries was measured and the number of podocyte foot processes was counted manually. The results were presented as the number of foot processes per  $\mu$ m GBM length. Student *t* test was used for statistical analysis (Study III).

#### 14. Ethical issues

The human kidney sample collection and procedures decribed herein were approved by the Ethics committees' of the Hospital for Children and Adolescent, University of Helsinki. The animal experiments were approved by the Experimental Animal Committee of the University of Helsinki and the Provincial Government of Southern Finland.

## RESULTS

#### 1. Identification of densin as part of the nephrin protein complex

To investigate the role of nephrin in the formation of the SD, we searched for novel components of the nephrin protein complex. To this end, we performed immunoprecipitation assays on rat glomerular lysates using an anti-nephrin antibody. The immunoprecipitates were separated by SDS-PAGE and silver stained. One distinct protein band at about 200 kDa was cut out, digested with trypsin and the peptides were identified by matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization–time of flight (MALDI-TOF) mass spectrometry. Eleven peptides matched with the rat densin protein sequence. Densin has been originally identified from the post-synaptic densities of rat forebrain in which it associates with N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor complexes (Apperson *et al.*, 1996; Strack *et al.*, 2000; Ohtakara *et al.*, 2002; Izawa *et al.*, 2002). To confirm the association of densin with nephrin in podocytes, co-immunoprecipitation assay was performed on human glomerular lysates. Immunoblotting with anti-densin antibody showed that nephrin precipitated densin (Study I, Figure 3).

### 2. Densin localizes to the glomerular slit diaphragm

To further confirm that densin is expressed in podocytes, we performed RT-PCR and immunoblotting assays. RT-PCR analysis showed that densin mRNA was expressed in human kidney cortical tissue, human glomeruli and human cultured podocytes by using densin-specific primers (Study I, Figure 2). Immunoblotting analysis showed that densin protein was expressed in both human glomeruli and cultured human podocytes (Study I, Figure 3). However, in human glomeruli densin appeared as a 210 kDa band, whereas in brain and cultured podocytes the molecular weight of densin was 185 kDa. The difference may be explained by different post-translational modifications including glycosylation. These results indicate that densin is expressed in podocytes in human glomeruli. To further investigate the localization of densin in kidney immunofluorescence and immunoelectron microscopy analysis were performed. Immunofluorescence stainings showed podocyte-like staining pattern for densin and it was also detected in the brush border of proximal tubuli (Study I, Figure 5). Immunogold labelling revealed that densin localized within the SD (Figure 6) (Study I, Figure 6). The subcellular localization of densin was investigated by over-expressing EGFP-tagged densin in cultured mouse podocytes. Immunofluorescence analysis showed that densin was exclusively localized in the cell-cell contacts and it was not found along free membrane edges. In the cell-cell contacts it co-localized with F-actin (Study II, Figure 3) and with nephrin (data not shown). These results confirm that densin is expressed in podocytes and suggest that it associates with cell adhesion protein complexes at the SD.



Figure 6: Densin localizes to the SD. The arrowheads point to the SDs. P, podocyte and US, urinary space. Modified after (Study I, Figure 6).

#### 3. Densin interacts with **B** -catenin

In order to investigate the function of densin in podocytes, we searched interaction partners for densin by the yeast-two-hybrid method using the C-terminal domain of human densin as a bait. The screening yielded three distinct clones encoding  $\beta$ -catenin, two clones of plakophilin/p0071 and one clone of alpha-actinin-2. Of these, β-catenin was chosen for further investigations, since plakophilin/p007 and alpha-actinin-2 are homologous with delta-catenin and alpha-actinin-4, which are known to interact with densin in post-synaptic densities (Izawa et al., 2002; Walikonis et al., 2001). The three clones of β-catenin encoded the C-terminal fragment of β-catenin containing at least one armadillo repeat and PDZ-binding motif (Study II, Figure 1). The interaction between densin and β-catenin was confirmed by reciprocal co-immunoprecipitation assay on myc-tagged densin transfected into HEK 293 cells. Densin-myc was able to precipitate endogenous β-catenin and densin-myc was detected in β-catenin precipitates (Study II, Figure 1). The binding domain in densin for  $\beta$ -catenin was determined by GST-pull-down assays on human glomerular lysates. To this end several GST-fusion proteins of the C-terminal fragment of densin were produced. The pull down assays with densin fusion proteins revealed that a short region downstream of the transmembrane region of densin (aa 1242-1360) was able to bind to  $\beta$ -catenin, but not the PDZ-domain. Since the whole C-terminal fragment had stronger affinity against β-catenin, other parts of the C-terminal fragment most likely were involved in the binding or/and proper folding of the binding site. Finally, densin and  $\beta$ -catenin distribution was investigated in cultured mouse podocytes by immunofluorescence microscopy. EGFP-tagged over-expressed densin co-localized with endogenous βcatenin at the cell-cell contacts in mouse podocytes further supporting their interaction (Study II, Figure 3). These data show that densin binds to adherens junction protein βcatenin and, therefore, suggest that it may play a role in the formation of cell-cell contacts.

## 4. Densin behaves in a similar fashion as adherens junction proteins in cell junctions

To investigate whether densin acts in a similar manner as adherens junction proteins, calcium switch assay was performed on densin-EGFP transfected mouse podocytes. Calcium switch assay takes advantage the calcium-dependent trans-interaction of cadherins, since calcium depletion results in disruption of the adherens junctions and translocation of cadherin/catenin complex to cytoplasm. After calcium is added to the cells, the reformation of the cell-cell contacts can be investigated from early cadherin/catenin clustering into puncta when they are starting to be anchored to actin cytoskeleton till they fuse and mature to form continuous belt-like junctions with strong intercellular adhesion (Adams et al., 1998). After two minutes without calcium, podocytes started to lose their mature cell-cell contacts. At this time point most of densin-EGFP and  $\beta$ -catenin were found at the plasma membrane, but some of them were already detected in cytoplasm (Figure 7) where they co-localized. After 20 minutes, when all the cell-cell contacts were lost, densin and β-catenin co-localized in cytoplasm in a dot-like pattern. Twenty minutes after addition of normal culture medium immature junctions were visible and 100 minutes after belt-like mature junctions were formed. Densin and  $\beta$ -catenin co-localized both in the immature and mature junctions (Study II, Figure 4). These results further confirm that densin binds to  $\beta$ -catenin and suggest that it may play a role in the formation of adherens junctions.



Figure 7: After calcium depletion densin is trans-located from the plasma membrane into the cytoplasm in cultured mouse podocytes (arrows).

Injection of puromycin aminonucleoside (PA) into rats results in podocyte injury and development of proteinuria (Caulfield et al., 1976; Messina et al., 1987; Kurihara et al., 1992). Similarly, the PA treatment has been shown to cause injury to cultured podocytes by resulting in disruption of cell-cell contacts and reorganization of actin cytoskeleton (Rico *et al.*, 2005). Therefore, we used the PA model on cultured mouse podocytes to investigate the behaviour of densin and  $\beta$ -catenin upon injury-induced junction disruption. Incubation of podocytes in 100 µg/ml of PA for 24 hours resulted in disruption of cell junctions associated with translocalization of densin and beta-catenin into cytoplasm. Similarly as in calcium switch assay, they co-localized in cytoplasm in a dot-like pattern after the PA treatment (Study II, Figure 5). These results further confirm that densin functions in  $\beta$ -catenin protein complexes.

## 5. Densin is up-regulated in kidneys of CNF patients

Lack of nephrin in CNF patients results in loss of SDs and formation of tight-junction like structures between podocytes (Lahdenkari *et al.*, 2004). Since densin forms a complex with nephrin and adherens junction proteins, we investigated whether the expression of densin is altered in kidneys of CNF patients. Semi-quatitative RT-PCR analysis showed that densin mRNA levels were increased in kidney cortices of CNF patients compared to normal kidney cortices. Similarly, densin protein levels were increased in glomeruli of CNF patients (Study I, Figure 4) compared to normal glomeruli. However, semiquantitative immunofluorescence analysis showed decreased staining in glomeruli of CNF patients compared to controls (Study I, Table 1). These results suggest that densin may play a role in the formation of tight-junction like structures in the podocytes of CNF patients.

### 6. 8-catenin is dispensable for adult mouse podocyte

To investigate the *in vivo* function of  $\beta$ -catenin in podocytes, we established a mouse model in which we were able to silence  $\beta$ -catenin in adult mouse podocytes by doxycycline inducible Cre-loxP system. Lack of  $\beta$ -catenin DNA fragment (exon 2 to 6) after doxycyclin treatment was confirmed by RT-PCR (Study III, Figure 1).  $\beta$ -catenin deficiency did not lead to albuminuria (data not shown) and light microscopy investigations on hematoxylin-eosin stained tissue sections showed no obvious morphological changes in the kidney (Study III, Figure 2). Immunofluorescence stainings revealed no alterations in the expression of SD proteins including cadherins, podocin, nephrin and ZO-1 in glomeruli (Study III, Figure 3). The expression of nephrin and podocin was further confirmed by semiquantitative immunoblotting, which similarly showed no alterations between  $\beta$ -catenin deficient and control mouse kidneys (Study III, Figure 3). These data show that  $\beta$ -catenin is not essential for maintaining the SD in adult mouse podocytes.

#### 7. 6-catenin promotes adriamycin-induced podocyte injury

Adriamycin treatment in mouse results in podocyte injury including podocyte effacement and loss of SDs in association with albuminuria (Wang *et al.*, 2000). To investigate whether  $\beta$ -catenin plays a role in adriamycin nephropathy, we injected adriamycin (13 mg/kg of body weight) into tail-vein of  $\beta$ -catenin deficient and control Cre mice. Three days after injection control mice developed significant (p≤0.05) albuminuria which stayed significant six days post-injection. In contrast,  $\beta$ -catenin deficient mice did not show significant albuminuria compared to the level of albumin in urine before the adriamycin treatment. (Study III, Figure 4). The increased albuminuria in control mice was associated with lower well-being score already three days after injection. The well-being score showed significant difference between the genotypes for six days after the injection (Study III, Figure 4). These data suggest that  $\beta$ -catenin plays a role in the development of albuminuria in adriamycin nephropathy in mouse.

Since loss of  $\beta$ -catenin in podocytes results in albuminuria, we investigated whether  $\beta$ -catenin deficiency protects podocyte foot processes against effacement. To this end, we performed morphometric measurements from electron micrographs and showed that control mice showed significantly (p<0.001) increased podocyte foot process effacement (1.3±0.2 foot process per µm of GBM) compared to  $\beta$ -catenin deficient mice (1.7±0.3 foot process per µm of GBM). The increased podocyte foot process effacement was associated with disruption and dislocalization of the SD towards the apical aspect of podocyte. However, podocyte foot processes with normal morphology and proper SDs could also be found in control mice as well as effaced podocytes were found in  $\beta$ -catenin deficient mouse glomeruli although less frequently (Study III, Figure 5). These data suggest that  $\beta$ -catenin plays a role in adriamycin-induced podocyte foot process effacement (Figure 8).



Figure 8: 6-catenin deficient mice show lower level of podocyte foot process effacement compared to wild-type control mice after adriamycin treatment.

### 8. Neph3 is a component of nephrin-Neph1 protein complex

Neph3 localizes to the SD and shares high homology with Neph1 and Neph2 (Ihalmo *et al* 2003; Ihalmo *et al* 2007), which bind to nephrin (Gerke *et al.*, 2003; Gerke *et al.*, 2005; Barletta *et al.*, 2003; Liu *et al.*, 2003). We therefore set out to investigate whether Neph3 is able to bind to nephrin. To this end, we co-transfected constructs encoding full-length nephrin and myc-tagged Neph3 into 293T cells and performed reciprocal co-immunoprecipitation assays using anti-nephrin and anti-myc antibodies. The results showed that nephrin was able to precipitate Neph3-myc and reciprocally, Neph3-myc precipitated nephrin (Study IV, Figure 1). These results show that Neph3 behaves in a similar fashion as Neph1 and Neph2 by binding to nephrin.

The extracellular domains of Neph1 and nephrin form heterodimers which have been suggested to bridge opposite podocyte foot processes and participate in the formation of the SD (Gerke *et al.*, 2003; Barletta *et al.*, 2003; Liu *et al.*, 2003). To investigate whether the extracellular domains of Neph3 and nephrin bind to each other, the construct encoding extracellular domain of Neph3 fused to human IgG Fc and CD33 signal sequence was produced. The recombinant protein was produced in 293T cells and purified from the cell culture medium. The purified extracellular part of Neph3 was used for pull-down assays on rat glomerular lysates. The results showed that nephrin and podocin were pulled down with the extracellular part of Neph3 from rat glomerular lysates (Study IV, Figure 1) and indicate that the extracellular parts of nephrin and Neph3 bind to each other.

To test whether the intracellular domains of nephrin, Neph1 and Neph3 are able to interact with Neph3, we used constructs in which the C-terminal domains of the proteins were fused to the leader sequence of CD5,  $CH_2$  and  $CH_3$  domains of human lgG1 and transmembrane domain of CD7. The intracellular constructs were co-transfected with full-length Neph3-myc into 293T cells and the intracellular constructs were pulled down using protein G-sepharose. The results showed that the intracellular domains of nephrin, Neph1 and Neph3 were all able to precipitate full-length Neph3-myc (Study IV, Figure 1). These results show that Neph3 forms homodimers and heterodimers with nephrin and Neph1 via its intracellular domain.

Collectively, these results indicate that Neph3, Neph1 and nephrin may form a functional complex needed for the SD assembly.

# 9. Neph1 and Neph3 show homophilic and heterophilic adhesion activity with nephrin

To investigate whether the interactions between nephrin and Neph3 or nephrin and Neph1 induce cell adhesion, we used mouse L fibroblasts (L-cells) as an in vitro model to evaluate their adhesion activity. L-cells lack expression of adherens junction proteins and consequently they cannot form proper cell junctions and have been widely used to investigate adhesion activity of several proteins (Nagafuchi et al., 1987; Satoh-Horikawa et al., 2000). To investigate the adhesion activity of nephrin, Neph1 and Neph3, we produced stable cell lines expressing nephrin, EGFP-tagged Neph3, or HA-tagged Neph1 alone or in combination using retroviruses and antibiotics selection (G418 for nephrin, puromycin for Neph3-EGFP and EGFP, and hygromycin for Neph1-HA). The expression of the proteins in L-cells was analyzed by immunoblotting which showed that nephrin expressed in L-cells had similar molecular weight as endogenous nephrin in rat glomerular lysates. Equally, Neph3-EGFP and Neph1-HA expressed in L-cells migrated at their expected molecular weights. Localization of the over-expressed proteins was investigated by immunofluorescence stainings showing that nephrin localized mainly in free membrane edges and surface staining showed that it was present at the plasma membrane in L-cells. Neph3-EGFP and Neph1-HA in turn localized mainly in cell-cell contacts (Study IV, Figure 2). These results show that nephrin, Neph1 and Neph3 are localized at the plasma membrane and are similarly glycosylated as endogenous proteins in podocytes suggesting that L-cells provide a proper model system to investigate their adhesive properties.

To investigate whether nephrin, Neph1 or Neph3 can form cell-cell contacts alone or only after binding to each other either in cis or trans configuration, a hanging drop assay was used. L-cells expressing nephrin showed an aggregation index comparable to L-EGFP cells indicating that nephrin cannot alone form cell-cell contacts. Similarly, Lcells expressing nephrin and Neph1 (L-nephrin-Neph1-HA) in the same cells did not reach a significant increase in aggregation index compared to control cells (L-Mock). Lcells expressing nephrin and Neph3 (L-nephrin-Neph3-EGFP) in the same cells showed a minor 1,4-fold increase ( $p \le 0.01$ ) in aggregation index compared to control cells (L-EGFP). However, L-cells expressing Neph1 or Neph3 alone both showed a significant 2fold or 2,3-fold increase (p<0.001) in aggregation index compared to control cells (L-EGFP and L-Mock), respectively. Furthermore, when L-nephrin cells were used in combination with L-Neph1-HA or L-Neph3-EGFP cells in hanging drop assays, they showed 3-fold increase in aggregation index ( $p \le 0.001$ ). The co-localization of Neph3-EGFP and nephrin in the cell-cell contacts was confirmed by immunofluorescence staining of the cell aggregates (Study IV, Figure 3). These results suggest that Neph1 and Neph3 are homophilic adhesion molecules and when they trans-interact with nephrin, their adhesion activity is enhanced (Figure 9).



Figure 9: Summary of the results from adhesion assay. (A) Nephrin alone or when expressed in the same cell with Nehp1 or Neph3 cannot induce cell-adhesion. (B) Trans-interaction between nephrin and Neph1 or Neph3 promotes cell-cell contact formation. Neph1 and Neph3 exhibit homophilic adhesion activity.

## *10.* Tyrosine phosphorylation of nephrin is reduced after it forms cell-cell contacts with Neph1 or Neph3

Since tyrosine phosphorylation of nephrin has been shown to be increased during podocyte development and in injured podocytes lacking proper SD stuctures (Li et al., 2004; Verma et al., 2006; Garg et al., 2007), we investigated whether tyrosine phosphorylation status of nephrin is altered after nephrin forms cell-cell contacts with Neph1 or Neph3. To this end we immunoprecipitated nephrin from hanging drop cultures containing L-nephrin, L-nephrin-Neph1-HA or L-nephrin-Neph3-EGFP cells. In addition, nephrin was immunoprecipitated from hanging drops containing mixed cell populations of L-nephrin and L-Neph1-HA or L-nephrin and L-Neph3-EGFP. To determine nephrin tyrosine phosphorylation, guantitative immunoblot assay was performed by using anti-nephrin and anti-phosphotyrosine antibodies from nephrin immunoprecipitates. The results showed that nephrin tyrosine phosporylation status stayed similar in hanging drops containing L-nephrin, L-nephrin-Neph1-HA or L-nephrin-Neph3-EGFP cells. However, tyrosine phosphorylation of nephrin was reduced by 50 % in hanging drops containing mixed cell populations of L-nephrin and L-Neph3-EGFP or Lnephrin and L-Neph1-HA compared to hanging drops containing L-nephrin cells alone (Study IV, Figure 4). The results indicate that the trans-interaction of nephrin with Neph1 or Neph3, which induces cell adhesion, results in de-phosphorylation of nephrin.

### 11. Neph3 is up-regulated in nephrin deficient mouse kidneys

Even though the SD cannot form without nephrin, podocytes still make narrow tightjunction like junctions (Putaala *et al.*, 2001; Rantanen *et al.*, 2002). Since we found that Neph1 and Neph3 can induce cell-cell contact formation when expressed in L-cells (Study IV), we investigated the localization and expression of Neph1 and Neph3 in nephrin deficient mouse kidneys. Since podocin expression has previously been shown to be preserved in nephrin deficient mouse kidney, we used it as a control. Immunofluoresence staining showed that Neph3 expression was increased in nephrin deficient mouse kidneys compared to wild-type mice, whereas podocin expression stayed at similar levels as excepted. Quantitative immunoblotting analysis showed 4fold (p<0.01) increase in Neph3 expression in nephrin deficient mouse kidneys compared to controls. Neph1 showed also 2–fold up-regulation, but it didn't reach statistical significance (p<0.14), and also podocin protein levels were similar between the genotypes (Study IV, Figure 5). These data suggest that Neph3 may play a role in the formation of tight-junction like structures between nephrin deficient podocytes.

## DISCUSSION

Glomerular disorders are a major cause of chronic kidney disease sharing the common features of proteinuria and podocyte injury. The typical characteristics of podocyte injury include disruption of the SD, formation of tight-junction-like structures between the podocyte foot processes and effacement of foot processes. Lack of nephrin in man and mouse results in these typical morphological changes already at birth associated with heavy proteinuria which leads to death without kidney transplantation. This highlights the importance of nephrin and consequently SD in regulating the kidney filtration function. However, the precise molecular mechanism of how nephrin is involved in the formation of the SD is unknown. It is, therefore, of the utmost importance to search for novel nephrin binding proteins and investigate their functional relevance for the formation of the SD.

#### 1. Densin is a novel component of the SD

Densin is a post-synaptic density (PSD) protein of excitatory synapses and it belongs to the LAP (leucine-rich repeat and PDZ domain) protein family containing multiple protein interaction domains including 16 leucine rich repeats, an Arg-Gly-Asp (RGD) tripeptide and a single PDZ-domain (Apperson et al., 1996). Densin is highly concentrated in the PSD and associates with N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor complexes and adherens junction proteins (Strack et al., 2000; Ohtakara et al., 2002; Izawa et al., 2002). In Study I we localized densin to the SD and showed that it interacts with nephrin. The finding that densin can be found both in the SD and synaptic junction makes it an interesting binding partner for nephrin for several reasons. Even though synaptic junction is an asymmetric junction containing presynaptic and post-synaptic sites acting in neurotransmission and the SD is a symmetrical junction forming a molecular sieve, they share some similarities. The synaptic cleft is about 20-50 nm wide (Bear et al., 1996) resembling the about 40 nm podocyte slit. In addition, neurons and podocytes are both terminally differentiated cells possessing processes and highly organized actin cytoskeleton (Kobayashi et al., 2004). Most interestingly, in the PSD densin binds to molecules which are found in the nephrin protein complex in the SD including cadherin/catenins (Lehtonen et al., 2004; Izawa et al., 2002) and alphaactinin-4 (Walikonis et al., 2001; Lehtonen et al., 2004). Densin also interacts with MAGUIN-1 (Ohtakara et al 2002), which binds to nephrin interacting protein MAGI-2 (Yao et al., 1999; Lehtonen et al., 2005). Furthermore, in the PSD, MAGI-2 binds to dendrin (Kremerskothen et al., 2006) which interacts with nephrin in the SD (Asanuma et al., 2007). According to these morphological and molecular similarities, densin may share functional properties in the PSD and the SD.

Even though densin was found over ten years ago, still little is known about its function. Densin contains many protein-protein interaction domains and it binds to calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CAmKII) (Strack *et al.*, 2000), a synaptic scaffold protein Shank (Quitsch *et al.*, 2005) and also associates with PSD-95 via MAGUIN-1 (Ohtakara *et al.*, 2002). Therefore, it has been suggested to act as a

scaffold protein organizing NMDA receptor complexes and signalling pathways. Since the nephrin protein complex contains multiple proteins and has been shown to induce signalling, it is tempting to speculate that densin would have a role in organizing the nephrin complexes. In the PSD densin associates also with synaptic adherens junction protein N-cadherin via δ-catenin (Izawa et al., 2002) which in turn suggest that it may play a role in neuronal adhesion. Similarly, in podocytes we showed that densin associates with P-cadherin via β-catenin (Study II). We further showed that densin is found at the plasma membrane only at cell-cell contacts where it co-localizes with  $\beta$ catenin and F-actin in cultured mouse podocytes (Study II) suggesting that densin may play a role in podocyte cell adhesion. Nephrin binds also to P-cadherin (Lehtonen et al., 2004) indicating that densin and nephrin may be in the same complex with cadherin/catenins. Additionally, nephrin and densin share common connections to the actin cytoskeleton including cadherins/catenins and alpha-actinin-4 (Walikonis et al., 2001; Lehtonen et al., 2004). The interaction with alpha-actinin-4 is particularly interesting, since it has a crucial role in organizing podocyte actin cytoskeleton (Kaplan et al., 2000; Weins et al., 2005) (Figure 10). In cultured hippocampal neurons densin has been shown to induce branching (Quitsch et al 2005) indicating that densin may balance neurite elongation and branching. This kind of function for densin was not found in podocytes, since over-expression of densin in cultured mouse podocytes did not induce formation of cellular processes (Study II).



Figure 10. Schematic presentation of the proposed densin-nephrin complex and its connections to podocyte actin cytoskeleton.

### 2. Does densin regulate the formation of adherens junctions?

Other members of LAP protein family, Scribble and Erbin, have been shown to regulate the formation of the adherens junctions. Scribble is transported to MDCK cell junctions in E-cadherin dependent manner (Navarro et al., 2005) and it facilitates the formation of adherens junctions in MDCK cells by stabilizing the connection between cadherins and catenins, and consequently improving their connections to actin cytoskeleton (Qin et al., 2005). Erbin also regulates the interaction between  $\beta$ -catenin and E-cadherin via mitogen-activated protein kinase in Schwann cell contacts (Rangwala et al., 2005). We showed that densin localization at the plasma membrane was dependent of cell-cell contacts as well as β-catenin and F-actin (Study II). Furthermore, densin and β-catenin were similarly translocated to intracellular vesicles during junction disruption. Upon cell-cell contact formation, densin and β-catenin were first found in early junctions in which cadherins/catenins are clustered into puncta and later they localized in mature continuous belt-like junctions (Study II) (Adams et al., 1998). These results further confirm that densin binds to adherens junction proteins and also indicate that it may play a similar role as other LAP members in regulating adherens junction assembly. Interestingly, densin has been shown to localize to adherens junctions between sertoli cells and developing germ cells in the testis (Lassila et al., 2007). However, the molecular mechanisms of how densin participates in the formation of adherens junctions requires further investigation.

Interestingly, LET-413, the *C.elegans* orthologue of densin, plays a role in the formation and proper positioning of adherens junctions which is important for polarization of the epithelium of the *C.elegans* embryos (Legouis *et al.*, 2000). Podocytes are highly polarized cells and the lateral position of the SD is important for separating positively charged apical site from the basal site attached to the GBM.Thus, densin may contribute to the polarization of podocyte foot processes and correct positioning of the SD by regulating the proper assembly of cadherin-nephrin protein complexes as well as their connections to actin cytoskeleton.

Several conditionally immortalized podocyte cell lines have been established to investigate the role of podocyte proteins. Mouse podocyte cell lines have been produced from isolated glomeruli of mice, harbouring the temperature-sensitive SV40 large T antigen (Schiwek et al., 2004; Mundel *et al.*, 1997). A human podocyte cell line has been developed from isolated glomeruli by transfection with the temperature-sensitive SV40 large T antigen (Saleem *et al.*, 2002). This allows podocytes to proliferate at 33 °C and differentiate at 37 °C. Even though, in the differentiated stage, the cultured podocyte cells show formation of cellular processes and cell-cell contacts (Schiwek et al., 2004; Mundel *et al.*, 1997; Saleem *et al.*, 2002), morphologically they do not superimpose podocytes *in vivo*. Furthermore, in the glomerular filtration barrier podocytes function in cooperation with the GBM and glomerular endothelial cells. Therefore, one should be cautious in interpreting results obtained with cultured podocytes to *in vivo* podocytes. This should also be taken into consideration in our

results which suggest that densin and adherens junction proteins may regulate the SD as our investigations were performed on cultured mouse podocytes.

# *3. 6* -catenin is not essential for formation or maintenance of the SD

Cadherin-dependent cell adhesion is initiated when cadherins on opposite cell surfaces interact. This induces cadherin clustering into puncta and later maturation into belt-like junctions with strong adhesion. The strength of the cadherin adhesion is dependent on the connection of the adhesion complex to actin cytoskeleton. β-catenin provides a link for cadherins to cytoskeleton by binding to actin binding and organizing protein alphacatenin (Aberle et al., 1994; Nelson, 2008). SD contains two classical cadherins, P- and VE-cadherins, which are connected to actin cytoskeleton via catenins (Reiser et al., 2000; Cohen et al., 2006). Furthermore, densin and nephrin associate with the Pcadherin/catenin complexes in the SD (Study II; Lehtonen et al., 2004). The important role of β-catenin in linking cadherins to cytoskeleton led us to hypothesize that βcatenin may have an important role in maintaining the SD. However, deletion of βcatenin from adult mouse podocyte did not cause disruption of the SD which showed that β-catenin in not essential for maintaining the SD structure (Study III). Recently, it has been shown that deletion of  $\beta$ -catenin in capillary loop stage of podocyte differentiation did not cause any morphological alterations in podocytes (Dai et al., 2009) which shows that  $\beta$ -catenin is neither needed for the formation of the SD. Whether  $\beta$ -catenin plays a role in the formation of epithelial junctions during S-shaped body stage of glomerular differentiation remains still unknown. The lack of β-catenin may be compensated by structurally homologous protein, y-catenin, which in other cell types has been shown to take over the function of  $\beta$ -catenin in cadherin-dependent cell adhesion (Huelsken et al., 2000).

# 4. *G* -catenin plays a role in the modulation of SD in podocyte injury

 $\beta$ -catenin and cadherins are expressed at a higher level during podocyte differentiation in S-shaped body and capillary loop stages than in mature podocytes (Yaoita *et al.*, 2002; Usui *et al.*, 2003; Ruotsalainen *et al* 2000). Some authors have been unable to detect  $\beta$ -catenin in mature podocytes (Yaoita *et al.*, 2002; Usui *et al.*, 2003), whereas others have reported it to be present in mature podocytes (Piepenhagen and Nelson, 1995). This discrepancy is most likely due to differencies in the sensitivities of the antibodies used in the studies. However, it also indicates that  $\beta$ -catenin is expressed at low levels in the mature podocytes in having broad foot processes which are connected by tight-junction like structures and apically located SDs, we wanted to test whether  $\beta$ -catenin would play a role in the transformation of the SD into these junctions during podocyte injury. We showed that in a way similar during podocyte development,  $\beta$ -catenin expression was up-regulated in podocytes in adriamycin nephropathy which is characterized by foot process effacement, formation of tight-junction like structures and apically dislocated SDs (Study III). Most interestingly, in  $\beta$ -catenin deficient mice the level of foot process effacement and albuminuria were lower than in control mice. These results are further supported by the recent data showing similar findings in  $\beta$ -catenin deficient mice after adriamycin treatment (Dai *et al.*, 2009) suggesting that  $\beta$ -catenin plays a role in disruption of the SD in adriamycin nephropathy.

Similarly as  $\beta$ -catenin, the cadherin superfamily member Fat1 is also down-regulated during podocyte maturation and up-regulated in injured podocytes in PAN model. Furthermore, it co-localizes with cadherin/catenin complex during podocyte differentiation (Yaoita *et al* 2005) and is able to interact with  $\beta$ -catenin (Hou *et al.*, 2006).  $\beta$ -catenin interaction partner densin is up-regulated in podocytes of CNF patients showing foot process effacement and formation of tight-junction like structures (Study I). Therefore,  $\beta$ -catenin, densin and Fat1 may participate in the same molecular pathways which are essential for the formation of the modified junctions in injured podocytes. This should be, however, investigated in detail in each disease model, since the podocyte injury is induced differently in each of them.

Nephrin has been shown to be down-regulated in various acquired human kidney diseases (Wang et al., 2002; Doublier et al., 2001; Koop et al., 2003) as well as in various experimental animal models (Luimula et al., 2000; Yuan et al., 2002). Nephrin down-regulation has been further shown to correlate with foot process effacement in human acquired kidney diseases (Koop et al., 2003; Huh et al., 2002). These data indicate that nephrin down-regulation can be used as a marker for podocyte injury. Our study III showed that β-catenin deficient and control mice showed similar expression of nephrin after adriamycin treatment even though the degree of foot process effacement was higher in control mice. However, it has also been demonstrated that nephrin expression is reduced in glomeruli of control mice compared to β-catenin deficient mice after adriamycin treatment (Dai et al., 2009). In this study a higher dose of adriamycin was used than in our study, which resulted in more severe albuminuria and podocyte injury which may explain the down-regulation of nephrin in the another study. In our study foot process effacement was not homogenous, which is also a common finding in human glomerular diseases. This may also explain why alteration in the expression of nephrin in several acquired kidney diseases have not been detected when the overall expression level instead of individual podocyte expression level has been investigated (Patrakka et al., 2001). Ours and other studies may therefore indicate that the downregulation of nephrin expression is not a sensitive marker for foot process effacement but rather reflects an advanced stage of podocyte foot process injury.

In addition to serving as a link between cadherins and cytoskeleton,  $\beta$ -catenin also plays a role in the regulation of transcription in Wnt-signalling cascade. In this cascade, secreted Wnt glycoproteins bind to Frizzled receptor proteins which leads to stabilization of  $\beta$ -catenin by preventing its phosphorylation and degradation. Consequently, the level of cytosolic  $\beta$ -catenin rises and  $\beta$ -catenin translocates into

nucleus in which it binds to lymphoid enhancer factor/T cell factor (LEF/TCF). This complex turns on the transcription of Wnt-response genes which have been shown to play a role in diseases and self-renewal of various tissues (Clevers, 2006) as well as in the development of various organs including kidney (Merkel et al., 2007). In the mature podocyte the Wnt signalling is silenced (Iglesias et al., 2007), whereas after adriamycin treatment  $\beta$ -catenin is reported to be translocated to podocyte nucleus indicating activation of Wnt signalling (Teixeira et al., 2005; Dai et al., 2009). We could not detect β-catenin in the podocyte nucleus or up-regulation of Wnt signalling markers dephosphorylated  $\beta$ -catenin or phosphorylated GSK-3 $\beta$  (Study III). In other studies BALB/c mice have been used, which are more sensitive to adriamycin and develop more severe podocyte injury and albuminuria than C57BL/6J strain in our study (Teixeira et al 2005). In addition, a higher dose of adriamycin has been used in C57BL/6J strain than we used, which also resulted in higher albuminuria (Dai et al., 2009). Therefore, it may be that more severe podocyte injury is needed to induce Wntsignalling cascades. However, our study may indicate that Wnt-signalling is not an early marker for podocyte injury in adriamycin nephropathy.

Even though the studies on podocyte specific  $\beta$ -catenin deficient mice by us and others clearly demonstrated that podocytes play a central role in the development of albuminuria in adriamycin nephropathy (Study III; Dai *et al.*, 2009) it has, recently, been shown that endothelial cell are also affected in this model. Adriamycin was shown to cause thinning of the endothelial cell glycocalyx by down-regulating certain proteoglycans and glycosaminoglycans. This was accompanied by reduction of charge selectivity of the glomerular filter which was suggested to contribute to the development of albuminuria in adriamycin nephropathy (Jeansson *et al.*, 2009). These results suggest that podocytes may not be the only target for adriamycin cytotoxicity. Furthermore, it is worth to mention that endothelial and mesangial cells express also  $\beta$ -catenin and therefore Wnt-signalling may be activated in these cells also upon adriamycin induced injury which has not been investigated in detail.

Adriamycin is an anthracycline antibiotic, which has been used for the treatment of solid tumors due to its cytostatic and cytotoxic actions on cells. These actions have been shown to be mediated by the formation of free radicals, induction of apoptosis, lipid peroxidation and induction of DNA damage (Gewirtz, 1999). However, the use of adriamycin in chemotherapy has been decreased due to its diverse toxic effects including cardiac and renal toxicity (Yilmaz *et al.*, 2006). Adriamycin treatment results in podocyte injury in the mouse which shares characteristics of podocyte injury detected in human kidney diseases including podocyte effacement and narrowing of the slits between podocytes. However, since adriamycin is an antitumour antibiotics, the mechanism how it induces podocyte injury is apparently not be same that induces podocyte injury in most human kidney diseases. This should be kept in mind when considering our results which show that  $\beta$ -catenin plays a role in the development of podocyte injury and albuminuria after adriamycin treatment (Study III).

## 5. Nephrin needs to trans-interact with Neph3 or Neph1 in order to induce cell adhesion

Neph3 shares homology with nephrin, localizes to the SD and, similarly as nephrin, is down-regulated in human acquired kidney diseases (Ihalmo *et al.*, 2003; Ihalmo *et al.*, 2007) indicating that Neph3 may interact with nephrin. We showed in Study IV that similarly as Neph1-2 (Liu *et al.*, 2003; Gerke *et al.*, 2003; Gerke *et al.*, 2005; Barletta *et al.*, 2003), Neph3 forms homodimers and heterodimers with nephrin. In addition, we showed that Neph3 was able to bind to Neph1. These results indicate that Neph3 may together with nephrin and Neph1 participate in the formation of the SD.

The *C.elegans* and Drosophila orthologues of nephrin and Neph family members have been shown to induce cell adhesion by forming homodimers or heterodimers between opposite cell surfaces (Dworak et al., 2001; Bour et al., 2000; Ruiz-Gomez et al., 2000; Strunkelnberg et al., 2001; Dworak, 2002; Bao et al., 2005; Carthew et al., 2007; Shen and Bargmann, 2003; Shen et al., 2004). We demonstrated that both mouse Neph1 and Neph3 showed homophilic adhesion activity, whereas nephrin was not able to induce cell adhesion alone. However, nephrin was able to form cell-cell contacts after transinteracting with Neph1 or Neph3. Interestingly, these trans-interactions induced higher adhesion activity than Neph1 or Neph3 were able to induce alone. In addition, cell adhesion was induced only when nephrin bound to Neph1 or Neph3 on the opposite cell surfaces but not when nephrin was present together with Neph1 or Neph3 in the same cell. Furthermore, the expression of nephrin in the same cell with Neph1 or Neph3 inhibited their adhesion activity. This may indicate that the heterophilic cisinteraction of Neph1 or Neph3 with nephrin may block the extracellular binding domain which mediates the binding of these proteins to each other on the opposite cell surface. Since nephrin, Neph1 and Neph3 are all expressed in the SD, our finding, that simultaneous expression of nephrin with Neph1 or Neph3 in the same cell inhibits their adhesion activity, might be considered paradoxical. However, one should keep in mind that these adhesion assays were accomplished in a simple cell culture model using Lcells, which lack most SD components. Since the SD is considered to be a dynamic junction, there may exist signalling pathways in podocytes which regulate whether nephrin interacts in cis or in trans configuration with Neph1 or Neph3. These pathways could be important for regulating podocyte intercellular adhesion and SD connections to actin cytoskeleton which may be important for maintaining the SD.

It has been shown that nephrin expression in HEK293 cells induces formation of cell clusters and therefore it has been suggested that nephrin is a homophilic adhesion molecule (Khoshnoodi *et al.*, 2003). Recently, it has also been shown by using Jurkat cells that nephrin is unable to induce cell adhesion in trans configuration with Neph3 (Nishida *et al.*, 2010). These results are in contrast to our findings which showed that nephrin was able to induce cell adhesion only after binding in trans configuration to Neph1 or Neph3 (Study IV). The discrepancy between the results may be explained by the different cells used in the studies. HEK293 cells express adherens junction proteins and are, therefore, able to form cell-cell contacts (Khoshnoodi *et al.*, 2003). Jurkat cells,

in turn, are T-lymphocytes (Nishid *et al.*, 2010). We chose mouse L-fibroblasts for our study since they lack expression of adherens junction proteins and thus cannot form cell-cell contacts. Furthermore, L-cells have successfully been used to investigate adhesion activity of other Ig superfamily proteins including nectins (Satoh-Horikawa *et al.*, 2000) further supporting that L-cells are a relevant model to investigate adhesion activity of nephrin, Neph1 and Neph3.

# 6. Tyrosine phosphorylation of nephrin is reduced after nephrin forms cell-cell contacts with Neph1 or Neph3

Nephrin is a signalling molecule which is able to induce actin polymerization (Zhu et al., 2008; Verma et al., 2006; Jones et al., 2006; Li et al., 2001), elevate cytosolic calcium levels (Harita et al., 2009), induce raft-mediated endocytosis (Qin et al., 2009) and decrease apoptosis (Huber et al., 2003). The signalling is initiated by clustering of nephrin which leads to tyrosine phosphorylation of nephrin by Fyn. Tyrosine phosphorylation of nephrin has been shown to be increased during podocyte development as well as in experimental animal models including Heymann nephritis, protamine sulphate nephrosis and PAN (Li et al., 2004; Verma et al., 2006; Garg et al., 2007). During the formation of podocyte foot processes and in podocyte injury, podocytes undergo major morphological alterations which associate among other cellular processes with rearrangement of podocyte actin cytoskeleton. Therefore, it has been suggested that once SD has been assembled, in steady state situation less nephrin signalling is needed to induce for instance actin polymerization. Our results support this hypothesis by showing that tyrosine phosphorylation of nephrin is decreased after it forms cell-cell contacts with Neph1 or Neph3. However, it has also been shown that nephrin is tyrosine phosphorylated in mature podocytes (Jones et al., 2009). In addition, it has been shown that tyrosine phosphorylation of nephrin is decreased in MCD and in PAN model (Uchida et al., 2008) suggesting that the tyrosine phosphorylation of nephrin is important for the maintenance of the SD. Taken together, since SD is considered as a dynamic cell junction, it may be that the balance between tyrosine phosphorylation and de-phosphorylation of nephrin may be critical for maintaining the integrity of the SD and consequently podocyte morphology.

### 7. Lack of nephrin leads to up-regulation of Neph3

Without nephrin the SD cannot be formed and podocyte foot process slits are narrowed. We found that Neph3 was up-regulated in nephrin deficient mouse kidneys. Also Neph1 showed tendency toward up-regulation, which didn't, however, reach statistical significance (Study IV). Since we showed that Neph1 and Neph3 are homophilic adhesion molecules, it may indicate that without nephrin they would participate in the formation of narrow junctions. Actually, the extracellular domains of Neph1 and Neph3 are shorter than that of nephrin supporting that they could form more narrow junctions alone than together with nephrin (Sellin *et al.*, 2003; Ihalmo *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, the adhesion activity of nephrin-Neph1 or nephrin-Neph3 trans-interactions was higher than Nehp1 or Neph3 could induce alone (Study IV)

suggesting that different molecular adhesion machineries could be activated after the interactions. Therefore, these findings may explain why nephrin-like proteins Neph1 or Neph3 cannot compensate for the loss of nephrin or vice versa. The up-regulation of Neph3 in nephrin deficient mouse kidneys also suggests that the regulation of the expression of Neph3 and presumably also Neph1 is important for maintaining the proper SD structure.

Interestingly, Neph3 is up-regulated in the postmitotic neural precursor cells in the developing spinal cord and down-regulated during maturation of neurons (Minaki et al., 2005). Similarly, Neph3 has been shown to be up-regulated in developing podocytes and down-regulated during podocyte maturation in zebrafish (unpublished data). We did not compare the expression of Neph3 between immature and mature podocytes in mouse, but based on the finding that it is up-regulated in nephrin deficient mouse podocytes which mimic podocytes during development, it is possible that such downregulation may also exist in mouse and man. Cadherin/catenin complex is also downregulated during podocyte maturation (Yaoita et al., 2002; Usui et al., 2003; Ruotsalainen et al., 2000). Interestingly, Neph3 has been co-localized with adherens junction components including ZO-1 and N-cadherin in adherens junctions of early postmitotic precursor cells in developing spinal cord (Minaki et al., 2005). Furthermore, nephrin has been shown to bind to adherens junction components (Lehtonen et al., 2004). It would, therefore, be interesting to investigate whether Neph3 exists in the same complex with adherens junction proteins during podocyte differentiation or in mature podocytes.

## CONCLUSIONS

Nephrin is a crucial structural and signalling protein of the SD and consequently critical for maintaining the permselectivity of the glomerular filtration barrier. Therefore, it is important to understand the molecular mechanisms of how nephrin participates in the formation of the SD. In addition, it is important to identify the molecular pathways which are involved in the down-regulation of nephrin and the disruption of the SD. This thesis work has searched for novel nephrin interaction partners and identified densin and Neph3 as components of the nephrin protein complex. The role of densin and Neph3 were further investigated by using various cell culture and mouse models.

In this thesis work the LAP protein family member densin was localized to the SD and further shown to form a complex with nephrin and adherens junction proteins  $\beta$ -catenin and P-cadherin. Densin was also shown to behave in a similar fashion as adherens junction proteins in cell-cell contacts suggesting that it may function in cell adhesion similarly as other members of the LAP family. However, whether densin is needed for the formation of the SD remains unknown and to clarify this, a podocyte specific densin knock-out mouse should be established. Deletion of  $\beta$ -catenin, an interaction partner of densin, specifically in podocytes of adult mice resulted in normal podocyte phenotype. This shows that neither  $\beta$ -catenin nor the interaction between densin and  $\beta$ -catenin are necessary to maintain the SD.

This thesis work also showed that the SD protein Neph3 homodimerizes and binds to nephrin and Neph1. The results indicate that Neph3 has similar binding properties as the other members of the Neph family, Neph1-2, and therefore suggest that Neph1-3 and nephrin may function together in the SD. The most interesting result in this thesis work was that Neph1 and Neph3 were able to induce cell adhesion alone, whereas nephrin needed to interact either with Neph1 or Neph3 in trans-configuration in order to establish cell-cell contacts. Furthermore, the heterophilic trans-interactions induced de-phosphorylation of nephrin. The molecular pathways which are activated upon these interactions require further investigation. In addition, it is important to identify the specific kinases and phosphatases and associated signalling cascades which regulate tyrosine phosphorylation of nephrin during cell-cell contact formation. Finally, in order to know whether Neph3 is crucial for the formation of the SD, a podocyte specific Neph3 knock-out mouse should be generated.

To investigate podocyte injury in kidney tissue from CNF patients, a nephrin deficient mouse line and adriamycin nephropathy model in mouse were used. All these models share common characteristics of podocyte injury including foot process effacement and replacement of SD with tight junction-like structures. The main difference between these models is that loss of nephrin in man and mouse leads to a phenotype in which SDs cannot be formed, whereas in adriamycin nephropathy model the mature SDs are disrupted. This study showed that densin and Neph3 were both up-regulated in nephrin deficient podocytes.  $\beta$ -catenin, in turn, was up-regulated in adriamycin treated

podocytes. Further, by using a podocyte-specific  $\beta$ -catenin knock out mouse we found that  $\beta$ -catenin contributes to the formation podocyte injury in adriamycin nephropathy.

The finding that densin, Neph3 and  $\beta$ -catenin are all part of the nephrin protein complex and up-regulated when podocytes are effaced and fused, makes it tempting to speculate that they would participate in common molecular mechanisms which lead to these morphological changes. Particularly interesting would be to know whether  $\beta$ -catenin-densin or Neph3-nephrin interactions play a role in the molecular pathways leading to podocyte injury. To this end these interactions should be analyzed in experimental animal models. Finally, up-regulation of densin,  $\beta$ -catenin and Neph3 in injured podocytes indicates that regulation of their expression is important to sustain proper SD structure and therefore emphasizes the importance to investigate their transcriptional regulation.

Nephrin has been previously shown to bind to the Ig superfamily and adherens junction proteins and these interactions have been suggested to play a role in SD assembly. This thesis extended the current knowledge of the molecular architecture of the nephrin protein complex by showing that Ig superfamily member Neph3 and adherens junction protein-associating protein densin are in complex with nephrin. Furthermore, the data presented offer a novel insight into the role of nephrin, Neph1 and Neph3 in cell adhesion which may play a role also in the formation of the SD. Finally, the alterations in the expression of Neph3, densin and  $\beta$ -catenin in injured podocytes may give novel insights into molecular mechanisms involved in the development proteinuria.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out at the Department of Bacteriology and Immunology, Haartman Institute, University of Helsinki, during 2002-2010. I would like to thank the head of the department Professor Seppo Meri for providing me with excellent research facilities and a pleasant atmosphere to work.

I acknowledge my supervisor Professor Harry Holthöfer for leading me into the fascinating world of podocytes and the podocyte community. I appreciate his innovative and broad-minded attitude towards science. I am very grateful to my other supervisor, Docent Sanna Lehtonen, who is a passionate scientist with a strong mission to teach. She has always demanded a lot from me, but has the ability to give a couraging sweet smile at the end. This combination has worked pretty well with me.

I am grateful to Professor Johanna Ivaska and to Professor Hannu Jalanko for reviewing and giving me invaluable criticism and advice to improve my thesis. Professor Malcolm Richardson is acknowledged for revising the English in my thesis.

I also wish to thank all my invaluable collaborators, who brought together the essential missing pieces in my publications. It was a pleasure to collaborate with Dr Heikki Ahola. whose persistent "etelä-pohjalainen" nature was a driving force in the first densin story. Dr Juuso Juhila is acknowledged for his enthusiastic and positive attitude, and excellent knowledge of animal models in our  $\beta$ -catenin mouse model story, which was a real learning process to me. Mervi Ristola is acknowledged for being such an excellent collaborator in the second and last article. It is really good to have an engineer in the house! Mervi is also thanked for providing me with a hilarious and relaxed company during the congress trips. Professor Karhans Endlich and Docent Nicole Endlich are warmly thanked for the spring 2005 In Heidelberg, when I learned so much about cell biology. I really appreciate their warm hospitality and the time they put on my work. Dr Pekka Ihalmo is thanked for being my "unofficial husband" in Heidelberg for two months. The following collaborators are also warmly thanked: Docent Markus Lassila, Dr Eva Åström, Docent Eero Lehtonen, Marika Havana, Nina Perälä, Professor Dontscho Kerjaschki, Professor Hermann Pavenstädt, Dr Masaki Inagaki, Dr Ichiro Izawa and Dr Sjef Verbeek. I am grateful to Dr Marcel Messing for the excellent technical assistance. Ulla Kiiski is acknowledged for carrying out some technically very demanding experiments which I could not perform myself. Niina Ruoho is also warmly thanked for being such a devoted technician.

I warmly thank all the remaining past and current lab members for the good times in the lab and outside. I am also grateful for all the help and for the scientific discussions that we have had. Special thanks go to Dr Johanna Koponen, Jarmo Koponen, Marja-Leena Hellman, Dr Anu Pätäri, Dr Tuula Palmén, Mervi Hyvönen, Anita Wasik, Dr Hong Wang, Susanna Koskelainen, Dr Pauliina Räyhä, Dr Paula Vanninen, Pauliina Saurus and Dr Silvia Berra. I am very grateful for having found so many good friends around me in my life. Their support has been essential for me during these years. Especially, I would like to thank my oldest soul mates Riksa and Pilu for sharing an invaluable friendship over 15 years. I am lucky to have found such a warm, loyal and stimulating friendship with both of you. Niclas is acknowledged for an exceptionally good sense of humour, endless philosophical discussions and hilarious moments on Bolax in the archipelago. I would also like to thank my closest study friends Kati, Satu and Nina for sharing those golden years and, occasionally, an apartment in Oulu. I am very happy that we are still so close to each other. I also appreciate that I am part of Kati's life through my lovely goddaughter Emma. My London-Oxford girls, Pieta and Anna, always remind me of biking trips, especially the one we made in Saaremaa, when the weather was unbelievably warm and Saku, unbelievably cold. I must say that I miss your company here often. I am also grateful to Pauliina with whom we have spent so many nights "saving the world". I am also happy that she has brought my godson René into my life. Johanna J. is also warmly thanked for sharing her warm friendship with me over these years.

Finally, my warmest thanks go to my parents who have always supported and helped me in every possible way and have provided a good framework for my life. My sister is acknowledged for being a friend, a sister and for having the ability of always being optimistic and supportive for what I have been aiming at. I feel at home when I come to Nurmijärvi to meet you, Simo, Jaska and Ella. Special thanks go to my favourite 2-yearold man, my godson Jaska, who always cheers me up in a very special way. This thesis work is also dedicated to my late grandmother Kerttu whose wisdom and endless interest in the world gave me a genuinely good role model.

This thesis work was supported by Finnish Cultural Foundation, the Paulo Foundation, Jenny and Antti Wihuri Foundation, the Maud Kuistila Memorial Foundation, the Finnish Kidney Foundation, the Farmos Research Foundation, The Biomedicum Helsinki foundation and the European Union (QLGI-CT-2000-00619 and LSHB CT-2003-503364).

Helsinki, April 2010

Eija Heikkilä

## REFERENCES

Aberle, H., Butz, S., Stappert, J., Weissig, H., Kemler, R. and Hoschuetzky, H. (1994). Assembly of the Cadherin-Catenin Complex in Vitro with Recombinant Proteins. *J. Cell. Sci.* 107 (Pt 12), 3655-3663.

Abrahamson, D. R. (1985). Origin of the Glomerular Basement Membrane Visualized After in Vivo Labeling of Laminin in Newborn Rat Kidneys. *J. Cell Biol.* 100, 1988-2000.

Abrahamson, D. R. (1987). Structure and Development of the Glomerular Capillary Wall and Basement Membrane. *Am. J. Physiol.* 253, F783-94.

Abrahamson, D. R., Hudson, B. G., Stroganova, L., Borza, D. B. and St John, P. L. (2009). Cellular Origins of Type IV Collagen Networks in Developing Glomeruli. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 20, 1471-1479.

Adams, C. L., Chen, Y. T., Smith, S. J. and Nelson, W. J. (1998). Mechanisms of Epithelial Cell-Cell Adhesion and Cell Compaction Revealed by High-Resolution Tracking of E-Cadherin-Green Fluorescent Protein. J. Cell Biol. 142, 1105-1119.

Ahola, H., Heikkila, E., Astrom, E., Inagaki, M., Izawa, I., Pavenstadt, H., Kerjaschki, D. and Holthofer, H. (2003). A Novel Protein, Densin, Expressed by Glomerular Podocytes. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 14, 1731-1737.

Akilesh, S., Huber, T. B., Wu, H., Wang, G., Hartleben, B., Kopp, J. B., Miner, J. H., Roopenian, D. C., Unanue, E. R. and Shaw, A. S. (2008). Podocytes use FcRn to Clear IgG from the Glomerular Basement Membrane. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 105, 967-972.

Anderson, J. M. (2001). Molecular Structure of Tight Junctions and their Role in Epithelial Transport. *News Physiol. Sci.* 16, 126-130.

Anderson, M. S. and Recant, L. (1962). Fine Structural Alterations in the Rat Kidney Following Intraperitoneal Bovine Albumin. *Am. J. Pathol.* 40, 555-569.

Apperson, M. L., Moon, I. S. and Kennedy, M. B. (1996). Characterization of Densin-180, a New Brain-Specific Synaptic Protein of the O-Sialoglycoprotein Family. *J. Neurosci.* 16, 6839-6852.

Asanuma, K., Campbell, K. N., Kim, K., Faul, C. and Mundel, P. (2007). Nuclear Relocation of the Nephrin and CD2AP-Binding Protein Dendrin Promotes Apoptosis of Podocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 104, 10134-10139.

Assemat, E., Bazellieres, E., Pallesi-Pocachard, E., Le Bivic, A. and Massey-Harroche, D. (2008). Polarity Complex Proteins. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1778, 614-630.

Ausiello, D. A., Kreisberg, J. I., Roy, C. and Karnovsky, M. J. (1980). Contraction of Cultured Rat Glomerular Cells of Apparent Mesangial Origin After Stimulation with Angiotensin II and Arginine Vasopressin. *J. Clin. Invest.* 65, 754-760.

Bao, S. and Cagan, R. (2005). Preferential Adhesion Mediated by Hibris and Roughest Regulates Morphogenesis and Patterning in the Drosophila Eye. *Dev. Cell.* 8, 925-935.

Barker, D. F., Hostikka, S. L., Zhou, J., Chow, L. T., Oliphant, A. R., Gerken, S. C., Gregory, M. C., Skolnick, M. H., Atkin, C. L. and Tryggvason, K. (1990). Identification of Mutations in the COL4A5 Collagen Gene in Alport Syndrome. Science 248, 1224-1227.

Barletta, G. M., Kovari, I. A., Verma, R. K., Kerjaschki, D. and Holzman, L. B. (2003). Nephrin and Neph1 Co-Localize at the Podocyte Foot Process Intercellular Junction and Form Cis Hetero-Oligomers. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 19266-19271.

Bazzoni, G. and Dejana, E. (2004). Endothelial Cell-to-Cell Junctions: Molecular Organization and Role in Vascular Homeostasis. *Physiol. Rev.* 84, 869-901.

Bear, M.E., Conners, B.W. and Michael, A. (1996). Synaptic Transmission. In Emily Lupash editor Exploring the brain in Neuroscience By Paradise Baltimore, Williams & Wilkins, p. 101-133.

Becker, C. G. (1972). Demonstration of Actomyosin in Mesangial Cells of the Renal Glomerulus. *Am. J. Pathol.* 66, 97-110.

Bennett, C. M., Glassock, R. J., Chang, R. L., Deen, W. M., Robertson, C. R., Brenner, B. M., Troy, J. L., ueki, I. R. and Rasmussen, B. (1976). Permselectivity of the Glomerular Capillary Wall. Studies of Experimental Glomerulonephritis in the Rat using Dextran Sulfate. *J. Clin. Invest.* 57, 1287-1294.

Berridge, M. J., Lipp, P. and Bootman, M. D. (2000). The Versatility and Universality of Calcium Signalling. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 1, 11-21.

Biederer, T. and Sudhof, T. C. (2001). CASK and Protein 4.1 Support F-Actin Nucleation on Neurexins. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 47869-47876.

Blouch, K., Deen, W. M., Fauvel, J. P., Bialek, J., Derby, G. and Myers, B. D. (1997). Molecular Configuration and Glomerular Size Selectivity in Healthy and Nephrotic Humans. *Am. J. Physiol.* 273, F430-7.

Bour, B. A., Chakravarti, M., West, J. M. and Abmayr, S. M. (2000). Drosophila SNS, a Member of the Immunoglobulin Superfamily that is Essential for Myoblast Fusion. *Genes Dev.* 14, 1498-1511.

Boute, N., Gribouval, O., Roselli, S., Benessy, F., Lee, H., Fuchshuber, A., Dahan, K., Gubler, M. C., Niaudet, P. and Antignac, C. (2000). NPHS2, Encoding the Glomerular Protein Podocin, is Mutated in Autosomal Recessive Steroid-Resistant Nephrotic Syndrome. *Nat. Genet.* 24, 349-354.

Breviario, F., Caveda, L., Corada, M., Martin-Padura, I., Navarro, P., Golay, J., Introna, M., Gulino, D., Lampugnani, M. G. and Dejana, E. (1995). Functional Properties of Human Vascular Endothelial Cadherin (7B4/cadherin-5), an Endothelium-Specific Cadherin. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 15, 1229-1239.

Bryant, P. J., Huettner, B., Held, L. I., Jr, Ryerse, J. and Szidonya, J. (1988). Mutations at the Fat Locus Interfere with Cell Proliferation Control and Epithelial Morphogenesis in Drosophila. *Dev. Biol.* 129, 541-554.

Busse, R. and Fleming, I. (2006). Vascular Endothelium and Blood Flow. *Handb. Exp. Pharmacol.* (176 Pt 2), 43-78.

Carlier, M. F., Nioche, P., Broutin-L'Hermite, I., Boujemaa, R., Le Clainche, C., Egile, C., Garbay, C., Ducruix, A., Sansonetti, P. and Pantaloni, D. (2000). GRB2 Links Signaling to Actin Assembly by Enhancing Interaction of Neural Wiskott-Aldrich Syndrome Protein (N-WASp) with Actin-Related Protein (ARP2/3) Complex. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 21946-21952.

Carthew, R. W. (2007). Pattern Formation in the Drosophila Eye. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 17, 309-313.

Caulfield, J. P. and Farquhar, M. G. (1974). The Permeability of Glomerular Capillaries to Graded Dextrans. Identification of the Basement Membrane as the Primary Filtration Barrier. *J. Cell Biol.* 63, 883-903.

Caulfield, J. P., Reid, J. J. and Farquhar, M. G. (1976). Alterations of the Glomerular Epithelium in Acute Aminonucleoside Nephrosis. Evidence for Formation of Occluding Junctions and Epithelial Cell Detachment. *Lab. Invest.* 34, 43-59.

Chang, R. L., Deen, W. M., Robertson, C. R. and Brenner, B. M. (1975). Permselectivity of the Glomerular Capillary Wall: III. Restricted Transport of Polyanions. *Kidney Int.* 8, 212-218.

Chen, A., Sheu, L. F., Ho, Y. S., Lin, Y. F., Chou, W. Y., Chou, T. C. and Lee, W. H. (1998). Experimental Focal Segmental Glomerulosclerosis in Mice. *Nephron* 78, 440-452.

Ciani, L., Patel, A., Allen, N. D. and ffrench-Constant, C. (2003). Mice Lacking the Giant Protocadherin mFAT1 Exhibit Renal Slit Junction Abnormalities and a Partially Penetrant Cyclopia and Anophthalmia Phenotype. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 23, 3575-3582.

Ciarimboli, G., Schurek, H. J., Zeh, M., Flohr, H., Bokenkamp, A., Fels, L. M., Kilian, I. and Stolte, H. (1999). Role of Albumin and Glomerular Capillary Wall Charge Distribution on Glomerular Permselectivity: Studies on the Perfused-Fixed Rat Kidney Model. *Pflugers Arch.* 438, 883-891.

Clapham, D. E. (2003). TRP Channels as Cellular Sensors. Nature 426, 517-524.

Clevers, H. (2006). Wnt/beta-Catenin Signaling in Development and Disease. Cell 127, 469-480.

Cohen, C. D., Klingenhoff, A., Boucherot, A., Nitsche, A., Henger, A., Brunner, B., Schmid, H., Merkle, M., Saleem, M. A., Koller, K. P. et al. (2006). Comparative Promoter Analysis Allows De Novo Identification of Specialized Cell Junction-Associated Proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 103, 5682-5687.

Dai, C., Stolz, D. B., Kiss, L. P., Monga, S. P., Holzman, L. B. and Liu, Y. (2009). Wht/beta-Catenin Signaling Promotes Podocyte Dysfunction and Albuminuria. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 20, 1997-2008.

Dandapani, S. V., Sugimoto, H., Matthews, B. D., Kolb, R. J., Sinha, S., Gerszten, R. E., Zhou, J., Ingber, D. E., Kalluri, R. and Pollak, M. R. (2007). Alpha-Actinin-4 is Required for Normal Podocyte Adhesion. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 467-477.

Davies, D. J., Messina, A., Thumwood, C. M. and Ryan, G. B. (1985). Glomerular Podocytic Injury in Protein Overload Proteinuria. *Pathology* 17, 412-419.

Dekan, G., Miettinen, A., Schnabel, E. and Farquhar, M. G. (1990). Binding of Monoclonal Antibodies to Glomerular Endothelium, Slit Membranes, and Epithelium After in Vivo Injection. Localization of Antigens and Bound IgGs by Immunoelectron Microscopy. *Am. J. Pathol.* 137, 913-927.

Done, S. C., Takemoto, M., He, L., Sun, Y., Hultenby, K., Betsholtz, C. and Tryggvason, K. (2008). Nephrin is Involved in Podocyte Maturation but Not Survival during Glomerular Development. *Kidney Int.* 73, 697-704.

Donoviel, D. B., Freed, D. D., Vogel, H., Potter, D. G., Hawkins, E., Barrish, J. P., Mathur, B. N., Turner, C. A., Geske, R., Montgomery, C. A. et al. (2001). Proteinuria and Perinatal Lethality in Mice Lacking NEPH1, a Novel Protein with Homology to NEPHRIN. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 21, 4829-4836.

Doublier, S., Ruotsalainen, V., Salvidio, G., Lupia, E., Biancone, L., Conaldi, P. G., Reponen, P., Tryggvason, K. and Camussi, G. (2001). Nephrin Redistribution on Podocytes is a Potential Mechanism for Proteinuria in Patients with Primary Acquired Nephrotic Syndrome. *Am. J. Pathol.* 158, 1723-1731.

Dworak, H. A., Charles, M. A., Pellerano, L. B. and Sink, H. (2001). Characterization of Drosophila Hibris, a Gene Related to Human Nephrin. *Development* 128, 4265-4276.

Dworak, H. A. and Sink, H. (2002). Myoblast Fusion in Drosophila. Bioessays 24, 591-601.

Elema, J. D., Hoyer, J. R. and Vernier, R. L. (1976). The Glomerular Mesangium: Uptake and Transport of Intravenously Injected Colloidal Carbon in Rats. *Kidney Int.* 9, 395-406.

Endlich, N. and Endlich, K. (2006). Stretch, Tension and Adhesion - Adaptive Mechanisms of the Actin Cytoskeleton in Podocytes. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 85, 229-234.

Evans, M. J. and Kaufman, M. H. (1981). Establishment in Culture of Pluripotential Cells from Mouse Embryos. *Nature* 292, 154-156.

Farquhar, M. G. and Palade, G. E. (1962). Functional Evidence For the Existence of a Third Cell Type in the Renal Glomerulus : Phagocytosis of Filtration Residues by a Distinctive "Third" Cell. *J. Cell Biol.* 13, 55-87.

Farquhar, M. G., Wissig, S. L. and Palade, G. E. (1961). Glomerular Permeability. I. Ferritin Transfer Across the Normal Glomerular Capillary Wall. *J. Exp. Med.* 113, 47-66.

Finer, M. H., Dull, T. J., Qin, L., Farson, D. and Roberts, M. R. (1994). Kat: A High-Efficiency Retroviral Transduction System for Primary Human T Lymphocytes. *Blood* 83, 43-50.

Fukasawa, H., Bornheimer, S., Kudlicka, K. and Farquhar, M. G. (2009). Slit Diaphragms Contain Tight Junction Proteins. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.

Garg, P., Verma, R., Nihalani, D., Johnstone, D. B. and Holzman, L. B. (2007). Neph1 Cooperates with Nephrin to Transduce a Signal that Induces Actin Polymerization. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 27, 8698-8712.

Garrod, D. and Chidgey, M. (2008). Desmosome Structure, Composition and Function. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1778, 572-587.

Garrod, D. R. and Fleming, S. (1990). Early Expression of Desmosomal Components during Kidney Tubule Morphogenesis in Human and Murine Embryos. *Development* 108, 313-321.

Gerke, P., Huber, T. B., Sellin, L., Benzing, T. and Walz, G. (2003). Homodimerization and Heterodimerization of the Glomerular Podocyte Proteins Nephrin and NEPH1. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 14, 918-926.

Gerke, P., Sellin, L., Kretz, O., Petraschka, D., Zentgraf, H., Benzing, T. and Walz, G. (2005). NEPH2 is Located at the Glomerular Slit Diaphragm, Interacts with Nephrin and is Cleaved from Podocytes by Metalloproteinases. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 16, 1693-1702.

Gewirtz, D. A. (1999). A Critical Evaluation of the Mechanisms of Action Proposed for the Antitumor Effects of the Anthracycline Antibiotics Adriamycin and Daunorubicin. Biochem. Pharmacol. 57, 727-741.

Gordon, J. W., Scangos, G. A., Plotkin, D. J., Barbosa, J. A. and Ruddle, F. H. (1980). Genetic Transformation of Mouse Embryos by Microinjection of Purified DNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 77, 7380-7384.

Gory-Faure, S., Prandini, M. H., Pointu, H., Roullot, V., Pignot-Paintrand, I., Vernet, M. and Huber, P. (1999). Role of Vascular Endothelial-Cadherin in Vascular Morphogenesis. *Development* 126, 2093-2102.

Gossler, A., Doetschman, T., Korn, R., Serfling, E. and Kemler, R. (1986). Transgenesis by Means of Blastocyst-Derived Embryonic Stem Cell Lines. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 83, 9065-9069.

Greiber, S., Munzel, T., Kastner, S., Muller, B., Schollmeyer, P. and Pavenstadt, H. (1998). NAD(P)H Oxidase Activity in Cultured Human Podocytes: Effects of Adenosine Triphosphate. Kidney Int. 53, 654-663.

Guasch, A., Deen, W. M. and Myers, B. D. (1993). Charge Selectivity of the Glomerular Filtration Barrier in Healthy and Nephrotic Humans. *J. Clin. Invest.* 92, 2274-2282.

Hallgrimsson, B., Benediktsson, H. and Vize, P. (2003) Anatomy and Histology of the Human Urinary System. In: Vize, P.D., Woolf, A.S. and Bard, J.B.L. editors. The Kidney From Normal Development to Congenital Disease. p. 149-164

Hallman, N., Hjelt, L. and Ahvenainen, E. K. (1956). Nephrotic Syndrome in Newborn and Young Infants. *Ann. Paediatr. Fenn.* 2, 227-241.

Harita, Y., Kurihara, H., Kosako, H., Tezuka, T., Sekine, T., Igarashi, T. and Hattori, S. (2008). Neph1, a Component of the Kidney Slit Diaphragm, is Tyrosine-Phosphorylated by the Src Family Tyrosine Kinase and Modulates Intracellular Signaling by Binding to Grb2. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 9177-9186.

Harita, Y., Kurihara, H., Kosako, H., Tezuka, T., Sekine, T., Igarashi, T., Ohsawa, I., Ohta, S. and Hattori, S. (2009). Phosphorylation of Nephrin Triggers Ca2+ Signaling by Recruitment and Activation of Phospholipase C-{Gamma}1. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 8951-8962.

Hartleben, B., Schweizer, H., Lubben, P., Bartram, M. P., Moller, C. C., Herr, R., Wei, C., Neumann-Haefelin, E., Schermer, B., Zentgraf, H. et al. (2008). Neph-Nephrin Proteins Bind the Par3-Par6-Atypical Protein Kinase C (aPKC) Complex to Regulate Podocyte Cell Polarity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 23033-23038.

Hess, J., Angel, P. and Schorpp-Kistner, M. (2004). AP-1 Subunits: Quarrel and Harmony among Siblings. J. Cell. Sci. 117, 5965-5973.

Heymann, W., Hackel, D. B., Harwood, S., Wilson, S. G. and Hunter, J. L. (1959). Production of Nephrotic Syndrome in Rats by Freund's Adjuvants and Rat Kidney Suspensions. *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.* 100, 660-664.

Hinkes, B., Wiggins, R. C., Gbadegesin, R., Vlangos, C. N., Seelow, D., Nurnberg, G., Garg, P., Verma, R., Chaib, H., Hoskins, B. E. et al. (2006). Positional Cloning Uncovers Mutations in PLCE1 Responsible for a Nephrotic Syndrome Variant that may be Reversible. Nat. Genet. 38, 1397-1405.

Hill, D. P. and Wurst, W. (1993). Screening for Novel Pattern Formation Genes using Gene Trap Approaches. *Methods Enzymol.* 225, 664-681.

Hirabayashi, S., Mori, H., Kansaku, A., Kurihara, H., Sakai, T., Shimizu, F., Kawachi, H. and Hata, Y. (2005). MAGI-1 is a Component of the Glomerular Slit Diaphragm that is Tightly Associated with Nephrin. *Lab. Invest.* 85, 1528-1543.

Hirose, T., Satoh, D., Kurihara, H., Kusaka, C., Hirose, H., Akimoto, K., Matsusaka, T., Ichikawa, I., Noda, T. and Ohno, S. (2009). An Essential Role of the Universal Polarity Protein, aPKClambda, on the Maintenance of Podocyte Slit Diaphragms. *PLoS ONE* 4, e4194.

Holthofer, H., Ahola, H., Solin, M. L., Wang, S., Palmen, T., Luimula, P., Miettinen, A. and Kerjaschki, D. (1999). Nephrin Localizes at the Podocyte Filtration Slit Area and is Characteristically Spliced in the Human Kidney. *Am. J. Pathol.* 155, 1681-1687.

Holzman, L. B., St John, P. L., Kovari, I. A., Verma, R., Holthofer, H. and Abrahamson, D. R. (1999). Nephrin Localizes to the Slit Pore of the Glomerular Epithelial Cell. *Kidney Int*. 56, 1481-1491.

Honda, K., Yamada, T., Endo, R., Ino, Y., Gotoh, M., Tsuda, H., Yamada, Y., Chiba, H. and Hirohashi, S. (1998). Actinin-4, a Novel Actin-Bundling Protein Associated with Cell Motility and Cancer Invasion. *J. Cell Biol.* 140, 1383-1393.

Hou, R., Liu, L., Anees, S., Hiroyasu, S. and Sibinga, N. E. (2006). The Fat1 Cadherin Integrates Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Growth and Migration Signals. *J. Cell Biol.* 173, 417-429.

Hrabe de Angelis, M. H., Flaswinkel, H., Fuchs, H., Rathkolb, B., Soewarto, D., Marschall, S., Heffner, S., Pargent, W., Wuensch, K., Jung, M. et al. (2000). Genome-Wide, Large-Scale Production of Mutant Mice by ENU Mutagenesis. *Nat. Genet.* 25, 444-447.

Huber, T. B., Hartleben, B., Kim, J., Schmidts, M., Schermer, B., Keil, A., Egger, L., Lecha, R. L., Borner, C., Pavenstadt, H. et al. (2003). Nephrin and CD2AP Associate with Phosphoinositide 3-OH Kinase and Stimulate AKT-Dependent Signaling. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 23, 4917-4928.

Huber, T. B., Hartleben, B., Winkelmann, K., Schneider, L., Becker, J. U., Leitges, M., Walz, G., Haller, H. and Schiffer, M. (2009). Loss of Podocyte aPKClambda/iota Causes Polarity Defects and Nephrotic Syndrome. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 20, 798-806.

Huber, T. B., Schmidts, M., Gerke, P., Schermer, B., Zahn, A., Hartleben, B., Sellin, L., Walz, G. and Benzing, T. (2003). The Carboxyl Terminus of Neph Family Members Binds to the PDZ Domain Protein Zonula Occludens-1. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 13417-13421.

Huelsken, J., Vogel, R., Brinkmann, V., Erdmann, B., Birchmeier, C. and Birchmeier, W. (2000). Requirement for Beta-Catenin in Anterior-Posterior Axis Formation in Mice. *J. Cell Biol.* 148, 567-578.

Huh, W., Kim, D. J., Kim, M. K., Kim, Y. G., Oh, H. Y., Ruotsalainen, V. and Tryggvason, K. (2002). Expression of Nephrin in Acquired Human Glomerular Disease. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 17, 478-484.

Iglesias, D. M., Hueber, P. A., Chu, L., Campbell, R., Patenaude, A. M., Dziarmaga, A. J., Quinlan, J., Mohamed, O., Dufort, D. and Goodyer, P. R. (2007). Canonical WNT Signaling during Kidney Development. *Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol.* 293, F494-500.

Ihalmo, P., Palmen, T., Ahola, H., Valtonen, E. and Holthofer, H. (2003). Filtrin is a Novel Member of Nephrin-Like Proteins. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 300, 364-370.

Ihalmo, P., Schmid, H., Rastaldi, M. P., Mattinzoli, D., Langham, R. G., Luimula, P., Kilpikari, R., Lassila, M., Gilbert, R. E., Kerjaschki, D. et al. (2007). Expression of Filtrin in Human Glomerular Diseases. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 22, 1903-1909.

Inoue, T., Yaoita, E., Kurihara, H., Shimizu, F., Sakai, T., Kobayashi, T., Ohshiro, K., Kawachi, H., Okada, H., Suzuki, H. et al. (2001). FAT is a Component of Glomerular Slit Diaphragms. *Kidney Int.* 59, 1003-1012.

Irie, K., Shimizu, K., Sakisaka, T., Ikeda, W. and Takai, Y. (2004). Roles and Modes of Action of Nectins in Cell-Cell Adhesion. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 15, 643-656.

Ishimura, E., Sterzel, R. B., Budde, K. and Kashgarian, M. (1989). Formation of Extracellular Matrix by Cultured Rat Mesangial Cells. *Am. J. Pathol.* 134, 843-855.

Izawa, I., Nishizawa, M., Ohtakara, K. and Inagaki, M. (2002). Densin-180 Interacts with Delta-catenin/neural Plakophilin-Related Armadillo Repeat Protein at Synapses. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 5345-5350.

Jaenisch, R. (1976). Germ Line Integration and Mendelian Transmission of the Exogenous Moloney Leukemia Virus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 73, 1260-1264.

Jaenisch, R. and Mintz, B. (1974). Simian Virus 40 DNA Sequences in DNA of Healthy Adult Mice Derived from Preimplantation Blastocysts Injected with Viral DNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 71, 1250-1254.

Jeansson, M., Bjorck, K., Tenstad, O. and Haraldsson, B. (2009). Adriamycin Alters Glomerular Endothelium to Induce Proteinuria. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 20, 114-122.

Jeansson, M. and Haraldsson, B. (2006). Morphological and Functional Evidence for an Important Role of the Endothelial Cell Glycocalyx in the Glomerular Barrier. *Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol.* 290, F111-6.

Jones, N., Blasutig, I. M., Eremina, V., Ruston, J. M., Bladt, F., Li, H., Huang, H., Larose, L., Li, S. S., Takano, T. et al. (2006). Nck Adaptor Proteins Link Nephrin to the Actin Cytoskeleton of Kidney Podocytes. *Nature* 440, 818-823.

Jones, N., New, L. A., Fortino, M. A., Eremina, V., Ruston, J., Blasutig, I. M., Aoudjit, L., Zou, Y., Liu, X., Yu, G. L. et al. (2009). Nck Proteins Maintain the Adult Glomerular Filtration Barrier. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 

Juhila, J., Roozendaal, R., Lassila, M., Verbeek, S. J. and Holthofer, H. (2006). Podocyte Cell-Specific Expression of Doxycycline Inducible Cre Recombinase in Mice. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 17, 648-654.

Justice, M. J., Noveroske, J. K., Weber, J. S., Zheng, B. and Bradley, A. (1999). Mouse ENU Mutagenesis. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 8, 1955-1963.

Kanwar, Y. S. and Rosenzweig, L. J. (1982). Clogging of the Glomerular Basement Membrane. *J. Cell Biol.* 93, 489-494.

Kaplan, J. M., Kim, S. H., North, K. N., Rennke, H., Correia, L. A., Tong, H. Q., Mathis, B. J., Rodriguez-Perez, J. C., Allen, P. G., Beggs, A. H. et al. (2000). Mutations in ACTN4, Encoding Alpha-Actinin-4, Cause Familial Focal Segmental Glomerulosclerosis. *Nat. Genet.* 24, 251-256.

Kaukinen, A., Kuusniemi, A. M., Lautenschlager, I. and Jalanko, H. (2008). Glomerular Endothelium in Kidneys with Congenital Nephrotic Syndrome of the Finnish Type (NPHS1). Nephrol. Dial. Transplant. 23, 1224-1232.

Kaukinen, A., Kuusniemi, A. M., Helin, H. and Jalanko, H. (2010). Changes in Glomerular Mesangium in Kidneys with Congenital Nephrotic Syndrome of the Finnish Type. Pediatr. Nephrol. 25, 867-875.

Kerjaschki, D., Miettinen, A. and Farquhar, M. G. (1987). Initial Events in the Formation of Immune Deposits in Passive Heymann Nephritis. gp330-Anti-gp330 Immune Complexes Form in Epithelial Coated Pits and Rapidly Become Attached to the Glomerular Basement Membrane. *J. Exp. Med.* 166, 109-128.

Kerjaschki, D., Ojha, P. P., Susani, M., Horvat, R., Binder, S., Hovorka, A., Hillemanns, P. and Pytela, R. (1989). A Beta 1-Integrin Receptor for Fibronectin in Human Kidney Glomeruli. *Am. J. Pathol.* 134, 481-489.

Kerjaschki, D., Sharkey, D. J. and Farquhar, M. G. (1984). Identification and Characterization of Podocalyxin-the Major Sialoprotein of the Renal Glomerular Epithelial Cell. *J. Cell Biol.* 98, 1591-1596.

Kestila, M., Lenkkeri, U., Mannikko, M., Lamerdin, J., McCready, P., Putaala, H., Ruotsalainen, V., Morita, T., Nissinen, M., Herva, R. et al. (1998). Positionally Cloned Gene for a Novel Glomerular Protein--Nephrin--is Mutated in Congenital Nephrotic Syndrome. *Mol. Cell* 1, 575-582.

Kim, J. M., Wu, H., Green, G., Winkler, C. A., Kopp, J. B., Miner, J. H., Unanue, E. R. and Shaw, A. S. (2003). CD2-Associated Protein Haploinsufficiency is Linked to Glomerular Disease Susceptibility. *Science* 300, 1298-1300.

Khoshnoodi, J., Sigmundsson, K., Ofverstedt, L. G., Skoglund, U., Obrink, B., Wartiovaara, J. and Tryggvason, K. (2003). Nephrin Promotes Cell-Cell Adhesion through Homophilic Interactions. *Am. J. Pathol.* 163, 2337-2346.

Kobayashi, N., Gao, S. Y., Chen, J., Saito, K., Miyawaki, K., Li, C. Y., Pan, L., Saito, S., Terashita, T. and Matsuda, S. (2004). Process Formation of the Renal Glomerular Podocyte: Is there Common Molecular Machinery for Processes of Podocytes and Neurons? *Anat. Sci. Int.* 79, 1-10.

Koop, K., Eikmans, M., Baelde, H. J., Kawachi, H., De Heer, E., Paul, L. C. and Bruijn, J. A. (2003). Expression of Podocyte-Associated Molecules in Acquired Human Kidney Diseases. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 14, 2063-2071.

Korhonen, M., Ylanne, J., Laitinen, L. and Virtanen, I. (1990). The Alpha 1-Alpha 6 Subunits of Integrins are Characteristically Expressed in Distinct Segments of Developing and Adult Human Nephron. *J. Cell Biol.* 111, 1245-1254.

Kos, C. H., Le, T. C., Sinha, S., Henderson, J. M., Kim, S. H., Sugimoto, H., Kalluri, R., Gerszten, R. E. and Pollak, M. R. (2003). Mice Deficient in Alpha-Actinin-4 have Severe Glomerular Disease. *J. Clin. Invest.* 111, 1683-1690.

Kremerskothen, J., Kindler, S., Finger, I., Veltel, S. and Barnekow, A. (2006). Postsynaptic Recruitment of Dendrin Depends on both Dendritic mRNA Transport and Synaptic Anchoring. *J. Neurochem.* 96, 1659-1666.

Kurihara, H., Anderson, J. M. and Farquhar, M. G. (1992). Diversity among Tight Junctions in Rat Kidney: Glomerular Slit Diaphragms and Endothelial Junctions Express Only One Isoform of the Tight Junction Protein ZO-1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 89, 7075-7079.

Kurihara, H., Anderson, J. M., Kerjaschki, D. and Farquhar, M. G. (1992). The Altered Glomerular Filtration Slits seen in Puromycin Aminonucleoside Nephrosis and Protamine Sulfate-Treated Rats Contain the Tight Junction Protein ZO-1. *Am. J. Pathol.* 141, 805-816.

Kuusniemi, A. M., Merenmies, J., Lahdenkari, A. T., Holmberg, C., Salmela, K., Karikoski, R., Rapola, J. and Jalanko, H. (2006). Glomerular Sclerosis in Kidneys with Congenital Nephrotic Syndrome (NPHS1). *Kidney Int.* 70, 1423-1431.

Lahdenkari, A. T., Lounatmaa, K., Patrakka, J., Holmberg, C., Wartiovaara, J., Kestila, M., Koskimies, O. and Jalanko, H. (2004). Podocytes are Firmly Attached to Glomerular Basement Membrane in Kidneys with Heavy Proteinuria. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 15, 2611-2618.

Lahdenpera, J., Kilpelainen, P., Liu, X. L., Pikkarainen, T., Reponen, P., Ruotsalainen, V. and Tryggvason, K. (2003). Clustering-Induced Tyrosine Phosphorylation of Nephrin by Src Family Kinases. *Kidney Int.* 64, 404-413.

Lassila, M., Juhila, J., Heikkila, E. and Holthofer, H. (2007). Densin is a Novel Cell Membrane Protein of Sertoli Cells in the Testis. *Mol. Reprod. Dev.* 74, 641-645.

Lazzara, M. J. and Deen, W. M. (2007). Model of Albumin Reabsorption in the Proximal Tubule. *Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol.* 292, F430-9.

Le Clainche, C. and Carlier, M. F. (2008). Regulation of Actin Assembly Associated with Protrusion and Adhesion in Cell Migration. *Physiol. Rev.* 88, 489-513.

Legouis, R., Gansmuller, A., Sookhareea, S., Bosher, J. M., Baillie, D. L. and Labouesse, M. (2000). LET-413 is a Basolateral Protein Required for the Assembly of Adherens Junctions in Caenorhabditis Elegans. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 2, 415-422.

Lehtonen, S., Lehtonen, E., Kudlicka, K., Holthofer, H. and Farquhar, M. G. (2004). Nephrin Forms a Complex with Adherens Junction Proteins and CASK in Podocytes and in Madin-Darby Canine Kidney Cells Expressing Nephrin. *Am. J. Pathol.* 165, 923-936.

Lehtonen, S., Ryan, J. J., Kudlicka, K., Iino, N., Zhou, H. and Farquhar, M. G. (2005). Cell Junction-Associated Proteins IQGAP1, MAGI-2, CASK, Spectrins, and Alpha-Actinin are Components of the Nephrin Multiprotein Complex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 102, 9814-9819.

Lehtonen, S., Zhao, F. and Lehtonen, E. (2002). CD2-Associated Protein Directly Interacts with the Actin Cytoskeleton. *Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol.* 283, F734-43.

Ley, K. and Reutershan, J. (2006). Leucocyte-Endothelial Interactions in Health and Disease. *Handb. Exp. Pharmacol.* (176 Pt 2), 97-133.

Li, H., Lemay, S., Aoudjit, L., Kawachi, H. and Takano, T. (2004). SRC-Family Kinase Fyn Phosphorylates the Cytoplasmic Domain of Nephrin and Modulates its Interaction with Podocin. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 15, 3006-3015.

Li, W., Fan, J. and Woodley, D. T. (2001). Nck/Dock: An Adapter between Cell Surface Receptors and the Actin Cytoskeleton. *Oncogene* 20, 6403-6417.

Liu, G., Kaw, B., Kurfis, J., Rahmanuddin, S., Kanwar, Y. S. and Chugh, S. S. (2003). Neph1 and Nephrin Interaction in the Slit Diaphragm is an Important Determinant of Glomerular Permeability. *J. Clin. Invest.* 112, 209-221.

Lowenstein, E. J., Daly, R. J., Batzer, A. G., Li, W., Margolis, B., Lammers, R., Ullrich, A., Skolnik, E. Y., Bar-Sagi, D. and Schlessinger, J. (1992). The SH2 and SH3 Domain-Containing Protein GRB2 Links Receptor Tyrosine Kinases to Ras Signaling. *Cell* 70, 431-442.

Luimula, P., Ahola, H., Wang, S. X., Solin, M. L., Aaltonen, P., Tikkanen, I., Kerjaschki, D. and Holthofer, H. (2000). Nephrin in Experimental Glomerular Disease. *Kidney Int.* 58, 1461-1468.

Mahoney, P. A., Weber, U., Onofrechuk, P., Biessmann, H., Bryant, P. J. and Goodman, C. S. (1991). The Fat Tumor Suppressor Gene in Drosophila Encodes a Novel Member of the Cadherin Gene Superfamily. *Cell* 67, 853-868.

Martin, G. R. (1981). Isolation of a Pluripotent Cell Line from Early Mouse Embryos Cultured in Medium Conditioned by Teratocarcinoma Stem Cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 78, 7634-7638.

Mauer, S. M., Fish, A. J., Blau, E. B. and Michael, A. F. (1972). The Glomerular Mesangium. I. Kinetic Studies of Macromolecular Uptake in Normal and Nephrotic Rats. *J. Clin. Invest.* 51, 1092-1101.

McMillan, J. I., Riordan, J. W., Couser, W. G., Pollock, A. S. and Lovett, D. H. (1996). Characterization of a Glomerular Epithelial Cell Metalloproteinase as Matrix Metalloproteinase-9 with Enhanced Expression in a Model of Membranous Nephropathy. *J. Clin. Invest.* 97, 1094-1101.

Merkel, C. E., Karner, C. M. and Carroll, T. J. (2007). Molecular Regulation of Kidney Development: Is the Answer Blowing in the Wnt? *Pediatr. Nephrol.* 22, 1825-1838.

Messina, A., Davies, D. J., Dillane, P. C. and Ryan, G. B. (1987). Glomerular Epithelial Abnormalities Associated with the Onset of Proteinuria in Aminonucleoside Nephrosis. *Am. J. Pathol.* 126, 220-229.

Metzger, D., Clifford, J., Chiba, H. and Chambon, P. (1995). Conditional Site-Specific Recombination in Mammalian Cells using a Ligand-Dependent Chimeric Cre Recombinase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 92, 6991-6995.

Miettinen, A., Dekan, G. and Farquhar, M. G. (1990). Monoclonal Antibodies Against Membrane Proteins of the Rat Glomerulus. Immunochemical Specificity and Immunofluorescence Distribution of the Antigens. *Am. J. Pathol.* 137, 929-944.

Minaki, Y., Mizuhara, E., Morimoto, K., Nakatani, T., Sakamoto, Y., Inoue, Y., Satoh, K., Imai, T., Takai, Y. and Ono, Y. (2005). Migrating Postmitotic Neural Precursor Cells in the Ventricular Zone Extend Apical Processes and Form Adherens Junctions Near the Ventricle in the Developing Spinal Cord. *Neurosci. Res.* 52, 250-262.

Moeller, M. J., Soofi, A., Braun, G. S., Li, X., Watzl, C., Kriz, W. and Holzman, L. B. (2004). Protocadherin FAT1 Binds Ena/VASP Proteins and is Necessary for Actin Dynamics and Cell Polarization. *EMBO J.* 23, 3769-3779.

Moller, C. C., Wei, C., Altintas, M. M., Li, J., Greka, A., Ohse, T., Pippin, J. W., Rastaldi, M. P., Wawersik, S., Schiavi, S. et al. (2007). Induction of TRPC6 Channel in Acquired Forms of Proteinuric Kidney Disease. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 18, 29-36.

Montell, C. (2005). The TRP Superfamily of Cation Channels. Sci. STKE 2005, re3.

Morgenstern, J. P. and Land, H. (1990). Advanced Mammalian Gene Transfer: High Titre Retroviral Vectors with Multiple Drug Selection Markers and a Complementary Helper-Free Packaging Cell Line. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 18, 3587-3596.

Mundel, P., Reiser, J., Zuniga Mejia Borja, A., Pavenstadt, H., Davidson, G. R., Kriz, W. and Zeller, R. (1997). Rearrangements of the Cytoskeleton and Cell Contacts Induce Process Formation during Differentiation of Conditionally Immortalized Mouse Podocyte Cell Lines. *Exp. Cell Res.* 236, 248-258.

Mundlos, S., Pelletier, J., Darveau, A., Bachmann, M., Winterpacht, A. and Zabel, B. (1993). Nuclear Localization of the Protein Encoded by the Wilms' Tumor Gene WT1 in Embryonic and Adult Tissues. *Development* 119, 1329-1341.

Nagafuchi, A., Shirayoshi, Y., Okazaki, K., Yasuda, K. and Takeichi, M. (1987). Transformation of Cell Adhesion Properties by Exogenously Introduced E-Cadherin cDNA. *Nature* 329, 341-343.

Nagata, M., Yamaguchi, Y. and Ito, K. (1993). Loss of Mitotic Activity and the Expression of Vimentin in Glomerular Epithelial Cells of Developing Human Kidneys. *Anat. Embryol. (Berl*) 187, 275-279.

Navarro, C., Nola, S., Audebert, S., Santoni, M. J., Arsanto, J. P., Ginestier, C., Marchetto, S., Jacquemier, J., Isnardon, D., Le Bivic, A. et al. (2005). Junctional Recruitment of Mammalian Scribble Relies on E-Cadherin Engagement. *Oncogene* 24, 4330-4339.

Nelson, W. J. (2008). Regulation of Cell-Cell Adhesion by the Cadherin-Catenin Complex. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 36, 149-155.

Nishida, K., Hoshino, M., Kawaguchi, Y. and Murakami, F. (2010). Ptf1a Directly Controls Expression of Immunoglobulin Superfamily Molecules Nephrin and Neph3 in the Developing Central Nervous System. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 373-380.

Norio, R. (1966). Heredity in the Congenital Nephrotic Syndrome. A Genetic Study of 57 Finnish Families with a Review of Reported Cases. *Ann. Paediatr. Fenn.* 12, Suppl 27:1-94.

Nose, A. and Takeichi, M. (1986). A Novel Cadherin Cell Adhesion Molecule: Its Expression Patterns Associated with Implantation and Organogenesis of Mouse Embryos. *J. Cell Biol.* 103, 2649-2658.

Obrink, B. (1997). CEA Adhesion Molecules: Multifunctional Proteins with Signal-Regulatory Properties. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 9, 616-626.

Ohlson, M., Sorensson, J. and Haraldsson, B. (2000). Glomerular Size and Charge Selectivity in the Rat as Revealed by FITC-FicoII and Albumin. *Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol.* 279, F84-91.

Ohlson, M., Sorensson, J. and Haraldsson, B. (2001). A Gel-Membrane Model of Glomerular Charge and Size Selectivity in Series. *Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol.* 280, F396-405.

Ohtakara, K., Nishizawa, M., Izawa, I., Hata, Y., Matsushima, S., Taki, W., Inada, H., Takai, Y. and Inagaki, M. (2002). Densin-180, a Synaptic Protein, Links to PSD-95 through its Direct Interaction with MAGUIN-1. *Genes Cells* 7, 1149-1160.

Oneda, B., Lods, N., Lottaz, D., Becker-Pauly, C., Stocker, W., Pippin, J., Huguenin, M., Ambort, D., Marti, H. P. and Sterchi, E. E. (2008). Metalloprotease Meprin Beta in Rat Kidney: Glomerular Localization and Differential Expression in Glomerulonephritis. *PLoS ONE* 3, e2278.

Palmen, T., Lehtonen, S., Ora, A., Kerjaschki, D., Antignac, C., Lehtonen, E. and Holthofer, H. (2002). Interaction of Endogenous Nephrin and CD2-Associated Protein in Mouse Epithelial M-1 Cell Line. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 13, 1766-1772.

Patrakka, J., Kestila, M., Wartiovaara, J., Ruotsalainen, V., Tissari, P., Lenkkeri, U., Mannikko, M., Visapaa, I., Holmberg, C., Rapola, J. et al. (2000). Congenital Nephrotic Syndrome (NPHS1): Features Resulting from Different Mutations in Finnish Patients. Kidney Int. 58, 972-980.

Patrakka, J., Ruotsalainen, V., Ketola, I., Holmberg, C., Heikinheimo, M., Tryggvason, K. and Jalanko, H. (2001). Expression of Nephrin in Pediatric Kidney Diseases. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 12, 289-296.

Pavenstadt, H., Kriz, W. and Kretzler, M. (2003). Cell Biology of the Glomerular Podocyte. *Physiol. Rev.* 83, 253-307.

Piepenhagen, P. A. and Nelson, W. J. (1995). Differential Expression of Cell-Cell and Cell-Substratum Adhesion Proteins Along the Kidney Nephron. *Am. J. Physiol.* 269, C1433-49.

Pierson, M., Cordier, J., Hervouuet, F. and Rauber, G. (1963). An Unusual Congenital and Familial Congenital Malformative Combination Involving the Eye and Kidney. J. Genet. Hum. 12, 184-213

Pihlajaniemi, T. (1996). Molecular Properties of the Glomerular Basement Membrane. *Contrib. Nephrol.* 117, 46-79.

Pippin, J. W., Brinkkoetter, P. T., Cormack-Aboud, F. C., Durvasula, R. V., Hauser, P. V., Kowalewska, J., Krofft, R. D., Logar, C. M., Marshall, C. B., Ohse, T. et al. (2009). Inducible Rodent Models of Acquired Podocyte Diseases. *Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol.* 296, F213-29.

Pries, A. R., Secomb, T. W. and Gaehtgens, P. (2000). The Endothelial Surface Layer. *Pflugers Arch.* 440, 653-666.

Putaala, H., Soininen, R., Kilpelainen, P., Wartiovaara, J. and Tryggvason, K. (2001). The Murine Nephrin Gene is Specifically Expressed in Kidney, Brain and Pancreas: Inactivation of the Gene Leads to Massive Proteinuria and Neonatal Death. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 10, 1-8.

Quaggin, S. E. and Kreidberg, J. A. (2008). Development of the Renal Glomerulus: Good Neighbors and Good Fences. Development 135, 609-620.

Qin, Y., Capaldo, C., Gumbiner, B. M. and Macara, I. G. (2005). The Mammalian Scribble Polarity Protein Regulates Epithelial Cell Adhesion and Migration through E-Cadherin. *J. Cell Biol.* 171, 1061-1071.

Qin, X. S., Tsukaguchi, H., Shono, A., Yamamoto, A., Kurihara, H. and Doi, T. (2009). Phosphorylation of Nephrin Triggers its Internalization by Raft-Mediated Endocytosis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 20, 2534-2545.

Quitsch, A., Berhorster, K., Liew, C. W., Richter, D. and Kreienkamp, H. J. (2005). Postsynaptic Shank Antagonizes Dendrite Branching Induced by the Leucine-Rich Repeat Protein Densin-180. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 479-487.

Raats, C. J., van den Born, J., Bakker, M. A., Oppers-Walgreen, B., Pisa, B. J., Dijkman, H. B., Assmann, K. J. and Berden, J. H. (2000). Expression of Agrin, Dystroglycan, and Utrophin in Normal Renal Tissue and in Experimental Glomerulopathies. *Am. J. Pathol.* 156, 1749-1765.

Radice, G. L., Ferreira-Cornwell, M. C., Robinson, S. D., Rayburn, H., Chodosh, L. A., Takeichi, M. and Hynes, R. O. (1997). Precocious Mammary Gland Development in P-Cadherin-Deficient Mice. *J. Cell Biol.* 139, 1025-1032.

Rajendran, L. and Simons, K. (2005). Lipid Rafts and Membrane Dynamics. J. Cell. Sci. 118, 1099-1102.

Rangwala, R., Banine, F., Borg, J. P. and Sherman, L. S. (2005). Erbin Regulates Mitogen-Activated Protein (MAP) Kinase Activation and MAP Kinase-Dependent Interactions between Merlin and Adherens Junction Protein Complexes in Schwann Cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 11790-11797.

Rantanen, M., Palmen, T., Patari, A., Ahola, H., Lehtonen, S., Astrom, E., Floss, T., Vauti, F., Wurst, W., Ruiz, P. et al. (2002). Nephrin TRAP Mice Lack Slit Diaphragms and show Fibrotic Glomeruli and Cystic Tubular Lesions. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 13, 1586-1594.

Rebecchi, M. J. and Pentyala, S. N. (2000). Structure, Function, and Control of Phosphoinositide-Specific Phospholipase C. Physiol. Rev. 80, 1291-1335.

Reeves, W., Caulfield, J. P. and Farquhar, M. G. (1978). Differentiation of Epithelial Foot Processes and Filtration Slits: Sequential Appearance of Occluding Junctions, Epithelial Polyanion, and Slit Membranes in Developing Glomeruli. *Lab. Invest.* 39, 90-100.

Reeves, W., Caulfield, J. P. and Farquhar, M. G. (1978). Differentiation of Epithelial Foot Processes and Filtration Slits: Sequential Appearance of Occluding Junctions, Epithelial Polyanion, and Slit Membranes in Developing Glomeruli. *Lab. Invest.* 39, 90-100.

Reiser, J., Kriz, W., Kretzler, M. and Mundel, P. (2000). The Glomerular Slit Diaphragm is a Modified Adherens Junction. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 11, 1-8.

Reiser, J., Oh, J., Shirato, I., Asanuma, K., Hug, A., Mundel, T. M., Honey, K., Ishidoh, K., Kominami, E., Kreidberg, J. A. et al. (2004). Podocyte Migration during Nephrotic Syndrome Requires a Coordinated Interplay between Cathepsin L and alpha3 Integrin. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 34827-34832.

Reiser, J., Polu, K. R., Moller, C. C., Kenlan, P., Altintas, M. M., Wei, C., Faul, C., Herbert, S., Villegas, I., Avila-Casado, C. et al. (2005). TRPC6 is a Glomerular Slit Diaphragm-Associated Channel Required for Normal Renal Function. *Nat. Genet.* 37, 739-744. Reiser, J., Polu, K. R., Moller, C. C., Kenlan, P., Altintas, M. M., Wei, C., Faul, C., Herbert, S., Villegas, I., Avila-Casado, C. et al. (2005). TRPC6 is a Glomerular Slit Diaphragm-Associated Channel Required for Normal Renal Function. *Nat. Genet.* 37, 739-744.

Reiser, J., von Gersdorff, G., Loos, M., Oh, J., Asanuma, K., Giardino, L., Rastaldi, M. P., Calvaresi, N., Watanabe, H., Schwarz, K. et al. (2004). Induction of B7-1 in Podocytes is Associated with Nephrotic Syndrome. *J. Clin. Invest.* 113, 1390-1397.

Reivinen, J., Holthofer, H. and Miettinen, A. (1992). A Cell-Type Specific Ganglioside of Glomerular Podocytes in Rat Kidney: An O-Acetylated GD3. *Kidney Int.* 42, 624-631.

Rennke, H. G., Cotran, R. S. and Venkatachalam, M. A. (1975). Role of Molecular Charge in Glomerular Permeability. Tracer Studies with Cationized Ferritins. *J. Cell Biol.* 67, 638-646.

Rennke, H. G. and Venkatachalam, M. A. (1979). Glomerular Permeability of Macromolecules. Effect of Molecular Configuration on the Fractional Clearance of Uncharged Dextran and Neutral Horseradish Peroxidase in the Rat. J. Clin. Invest. 63, 713-717.

Rico, M., Mukherjee, A., Konieczkowski, M., Bruggeman, L. A., Miller, R. T., Khan, S., Schelling, J. R. and Sedor, J. R. (2005). WT1-Interacting Protein and ZO-1 Translocate into Podocyte Nuclei After Puromycin Aminonucleoside Treatment. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 289, F431-41.

Rippe, B. and Haraldsson, B. (1994). Transport of Macromolecules Across Microvascular Walls: The Two-Pore Theory. *Physiol. Rev.* 74, 163-219.

Ristola, M., Arpiainen, S., Saleem, M. A., Mathieson, P. W., Welsh, G. I., Lehtonen, S. and Holthofer, H. (2009). Regulation of Neph3 Gene in Podocytes--Key Roles of Transcription Factors NF-kappaB and Sp1. *BMC Mol. Biol.* 10, 83.

Rodewald, R. and Karnovsky, M. J. (1974). Porous Substructure of the Glomerular Slit Diaphragm in the Rat and Mouse. *J. Cell Biol.* 60, 423-433.

Roselli, S., Heidet, L., Sich, M., Henger, A., Kretzler, M., Gubler, M. C. and Antignac, C. (2004). Early Glomerular Filtration Defect and Severe Renal Disease in Podocin-Deficient Mice. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 24, 550-560.

Ruiz-Gomez, M., Coutts, N., Price, A., Taylor, M. V. and Bate, M. (2000). Drosophila Dumbfounded: A Myoblast Attractant Essential for Fusion. *Cell* 102, 189-198.

Ruotsalainen, V., Ljungberg, P., Wartiovaara, J., Lenkkeri, U., Kestila, M., Jalanko, H., Holmberg, C. and Tryggvason, K. (1999). Nephrin is Specifically Located at the Slit Diaphragm of Glomerular Podocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 96, 7962-7967.

Ruotsalainen, V., Patrakka, J., Tissari, P., Reponen, P., Hess, M., Kestila, M., Holmberg, C., Salonen, R., Heikinheimo, M., Wartiovaara, J. et al. (2000). Role of Nephrin in Cell Junction Formation in Human Nephrogenesis. *Am. J. Pathol.* 157, 1905-1916.

Ruotsalainen, V., Patrakka, J., Tissari, P., Reponen, P., Hess, M., Kestila, M., Holmberg, C., Salonen, R., Heikinheimo, M., Wartiovaara, J. et al. (2000). Role of Nephrin in Cell Junction Formation in Human Nephrogenesis. *Am. J. Pathol.* 157, 1905-1916.

Russell, W. L., Kelly, E. M., Hunsicker, P. R., Bangham, J. W., Maddux, S. C. and Phipps, E. L. (1979). Specific-Locus Test shows Ethylnitrosourea to be the most Potent Mutagen in the Mouse. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 76, 5818-5819.

Saleem, M. A., O'Hare, M. J., Reiser, J., Coward, R. J., Inward, C. D., Farren, T., Xing, C. Y., Ni, L., Mathieson, P. W. and Mundel, P. (2002). A Conditionally Immortalized Human Podocyte Cell Line Demonstrating Nephrin and Podocin Expression. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 13, 630-638.

Russo, L. M., Sandoval, R. M., McKee, M., Osicka, T. M., Collins, A. B., Brown, D., Molitoris, B. A. and Comper, W. D. (2007). The Normal Kidney Filters Nephrotic Levels of Albumin Retrieved by Proximal Tubule Cells: Retrieval is Disrupted in Nephrotic States. *Kidney Int.* 71, 504-513.

Satchell, S. C. and Braet, F. (2009). Glomerular Endothelial Cell Fenestrations: An Integral Component of the Glomerular Filtration Barrier. *Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol.*
Satoh-Horikawa, K., Nakanishi, H., Takahashi, K., Miyahara, M., Nishimura, M., Tachibana, K., Mizoguchi, A. and Takai, Y. (2000). Nectin-3, a New Member of Immunoglobulin-Like Cell Adhesion Molecules that shows Homophilic and Heterophilic Cell-Cell Adhesion Activities. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 10291-10299.

Schiffer, M., Mundel, P., Shaw, A. S. and Bottinger, E. P. (2004). A Novel Role for the Adaptor Molecule CD2-Associated Protein in Transforming Growth Factor-Beta-Induced Apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 37004-37012.

Schiwek, D., Endlich, N., Holzman, L., Holthofer, H., Kriz, W. and Endlich, K. (2004). Stable Expression of Nephrin and Localization to Cell-Cell Contacts in Novel Murine Podocyte Cell Lines. *Kidney Int.* 66, 91-101.

Schnabel, E., Anderson, J. M. and Farquhar, M. G. (1990). The Tight Junction Protein ZO-1 is Concentrated Along Slit Diaphragms of the Glomerular Epithelium. *J. Cell Biol.* 111, 1255-1263.

Schnabel, E., Dekan, G., Miettinen, A. and Farquhar, M. G. (1989). Biogenesis of Podocalyxin--the Major Glomerular Sialoglycoprotein--in the Newborn Rat Kidney. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 48, 313-326.

Schneeberger, E. E. and Grupe, W. E. (1976). The Ultrastructure of the Glomerular Slit Diaphragm in Autologous Immune Complex Nephritis. *Lab. Invest.* 34, 298-305.

Schonig, K., Schwenk, F., Rajewsky, K. and Bujard, H. (2002). Stringent Doxycycline Dependent Control of CRE Recombinase in Vivo. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 30, e134.

Seiler, M. W., Venkatachalam, M. A. and Cotran, R. S. (1975). Glomerular Epithelium: Structural Alterations Induced by Polycations. *Science* 189, 390-393.

Sellin, L., Huber, T. B., Gerke, P., Quack, I., Pavenstadt, H. and Walz, G. (2003). NEPH1 Defines a Novel Family of Podocin Interacting Proteins. *FASEB J.* 17, 115-117.

Sellin, L., Huber, T. B., Gerke, P., Quack, I., Pavenstadt, H. and Walz, G. (2003). NEPH1 Defines a Novel Family of Podocin Interacting Proteins. *FASEB J.* 17, 115-117.

Sharif, K., Goyal, M., Kershaw, D., Kunkel, R. and Wiggins, R. (1998). Podocyte Phenotypes as Defined by Expression and Distribution of GLEPP1 in the Developing Glomerulus and in Nephrotic Glomeruli from MCD, CNF, and FSGS. A Dedifferentiation Hypothesis for the Nephrotic Syndrome. *Exp. Nephrol.* 6, 234-244.

Shen, K. and Bargmann, C. I. (2003). The Immunoglobulin Superfamily Protein SYG-1 Determines the Location of Specific Synapses in C. Elegans. *Cell* 112, 619-630.

Shen, K., Fetter, R. D. and Bargmann, C. I. (2004). Synaptic Specificity is Generated by the Synaptic Guidepost Protein SYG-2 and its Receptor, SYG-1. *Cell* 116, 869-881.

Shih, N. Y., Li, J., Karpitskii, V., Nguyen, A., Dustin, M. L., Kanagawa, O., Miner, J. H. and Shaw, A. S. (1999). Congenital Nephrotic Syndrome in Mice Lacking CD2-Associated Protein. *Science* 286, 312-315.

Shin, K., Fogg, V. C. and Margolis, B. (2006). Tight Junctions and Cell Polarity. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 22, 207-235.

Shirato, I., Sakai, T., Kimura, K., Tomino, Y. and Kriz, W. (1996). Cytoskeletal Changes in Podocytes Associated with Foot Process Effacement in Masugi Nephritis. *Am. J. Pathol.* 148, 1283-1296.

Simons, M., Schwarz, K., Kriz, W., Miettinen, A., Reiser, J., Mundel, P. and Holthofer, H. (2001). Involvement of Lipid Rafts in Nephrin Phosphorylation and Organization of the Glomerular Slit Diaphragm. *Am. J. Pathol.* 159, 1069-1077.

Sohn, R. L., Huang, P., Kawahara, G., Mitchell, M., Guyon, J., Kalluri, R., Kunkel, L. M. and Gussoni, E. (2009). A Role for Nephrin, a Renal Protein, in Vertebrate Skeletal Muscle Cell Fusion. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 106, 9274-9279.

St John, P. L. and Abrahamson, D. R. (2001). Glomerular Endothelial Cells and Podocytes Jointly Synthesize Laminin-1 and -11 Chains. *Kidney Int.* 60, 1037-1046.

Stanford, W. L., Cohn, J. B. and Cordes, S. P. (2001). Gene-Trap Mutagenesis: Past, Present and Beyond. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 2, 756-768.

Strack, S., Robison, A. J., Bass, M. A. and Colbran, R. J. (2000). Association of calcium/calmodulin-Dependent Kinase II with Developmentally Regulated Splice Variants of the Postsynaptic Density Protein Densin-180. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 25061-25064.

Strunkelnberg, M., Bonengel, B., Moda, L. M., Hertenstein, A., de Couet, H. G., Ramos, R. G. and Fischbach, K. F. (2001). Rst and its Paralogue Kirre Act Redundantly during Embryonic Muscle Development in Drosophila. *Development* 128, 4229-4239.

Sutton, T. A., Mang, H. E., Campos, S. B., Sandoval, R. M., Yoder, M. C. and Molitoris, B. A. (2003). Injury of the Renal Microvascular Endothelium Alters Barrier Function After Ischemia. *Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol.* 285, F191-8.

Suzuki, A., Ishiyama, C., Hashiba, K., Shimizu, M., Ebnet, K. and Ohno, S. (2002). APKC Kinase Activity is Required for the Asymmetric Differentiation of the Premature Junctional Complex during Epithelial Cell Polarization. *J. Cell. Sci.* 115, 3565-3573.

Takeda, T., McQuistan, T., Orlando, R. A. and Farquhar, M. G. (2001). Loss of Glomerular Foot Processes is Associated with Uncoupling of Podocalyxin from the Actin Cytoskeleton. J. Clin. Invest. 108, 289-301.

Tanihara, H., Kido, M., Obata, S., Heimark, R. L., Davidson, M., St John, T. and Suzuki, S. (1994). Characterization of Cadherin-4 and Cadherin-5 Reveals New Aspects of Cadherins. *J. Cell. Sci.* 107 (Pt 6), 1697-1704.

Tanner, G. A. (2009). Glomerular Sieving Coefficient of Serum Albumin in the Rat: A Two-Photon Microscopy Study. *Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol.* 296, F1258-65.

Tanoue, T. and Takeichi, M. (2004). Mammalian Fat1 Cadherin Regulates Actin Dynamics and Cell-Cell Contact. *J. Cell Biol.* 165, 517-528.

Tay, M., Comper, W. D. and Singh, A. K. (1991). Charge Selectivity in Kidney Ultrafiltration is Associated with Glomerular Uptake of Transport Probes. *Am. J. Physiol.* 260, F549-54.

Teixeira Vde, P., Blattner, S. M., Li, M., Anders, H. J., Cohen, C. D., Edenhofer, I., Calvaresi, N., Merkle, M., Rastaldi, M. P. and Kretzler, M. (2005). Functional Consequences of Integrin-Linked Kinase Activation in Podocyte Damage. *Kidney Int.* 67, 514-523.

Thomas, K. R., Folger, K. R. and Capecchi, M. R. (1986). High Frequency Targeting of Genes to Specific Sites in the Mammalian Genome. *Cell* 44, 419-428.

Thompson, S., Clarke, A. R., Pow, A. M., Hooper, M. L. and Melton, D. W. (1989). Germ Line Transmission and Expression of a Corrected HPRT Gene Produced by Gene Targeting in Embryonic Stem Cells. *Cell* 56, 313-321.

Timpl, R. and Brown, J. C. (1996). Supramolecular Assembly of Basement Membranes. *Bioessays* 18, 123-132.

Toyoda, M., Suzuki, D., Umezono, T., Uehara, G., Maruyama, M., Honma, M., Sakai, T. and Sakai, H. (2004). Expression of Human Nephrin mRNA in Diabetic Nephropathy. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 19, 380-385.

Tryggvason, K. (1978). Morphometric Studies on Glomeruli in the Congenital Nephrotic Syndrome. *Nephron* 22, 544-550.

Tryggvason, K. and Kouvalainen, K. (1975). Number of Nephrons in Normal Human Kidneys and Kidneys of Patients with the Congenital Nephrotic Syndrome. A Study using a Sieving Method for Counting of Glomeruli. *Nephron* 15, 62-68.

Tsiokas, L., Kim, E., Arnould, T., Sukhatme, V. P. and Walz, G. (1997). Homo- and Heterodimeric Interactions between the Gene Products of PKD1 and PKD2. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 94, 6965-6970.

Uchida, K., Suzuki, K., Iwamoto, M., Kawachi, H., Ohno, M., Horita, S. and Nitta, K. (2008). Decreased Tyrosine Phosphorylation of Nephrin in Rat and Human Nephrosis. Kidney Int. 73, 926-932.

Usui, J., Kurihara, H., Shu, Y., Tomari, S., Kanemoto, K., Koyama, A., Sakai, T., Takahashi, T. and Nagata, M. (2003). Localization of Intercellular Adherens Junction Protein p120 Catenin during Podocyte Differentiation. *Anat. Embryol. (Berl)* 206, 175-184.

Utomo, A. R., Nikitin, A. Y. and Lee, W. H. (1999). Temporal, Spatial, and Cell Type-Specific Control of Cre-Mediated DNA Recombination in Transgenic Mice. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 17, 1091-1096.

van Rossum, D. B., Patterson, R. L., Sharma, S., Barrow, R. K., Kornberg, M., Gill, D. L. and Snyder, S. H. (2005). Phospholipase Cgamma1 Controls Surface Expression of TRPC3 through an Intermolecular PH Domain. *Nature* 434, 99-104.

Vasioukhin, V., Bauer, C., Yin, M. and Fuchs, E. (2000). Directed Actin Polymerization is the Driving Force for Epithelial Cell-Cell Adhesion. *Cell* 100, 209-219.

Veis, J. H. (1993). An Overview of Mesangial Cell Biology. Contrib. Nephrol. 104, 115-126.

Verma, R., Kovari, I., Soofi, A., Nihalani, D., Patrie, K. and Holzman, L. B. (2006). Nephrin Ectodomain Engagement Results in Src Kinase Activation, Nephrin Phosphorylation, Nck Recruitment, and Actin Polymerization. *J. Clin. Invest.* 116, 1346-1359.

Verma, R., Wharram, B., Kovari, I., Kunkel, R., Nihalani, D., Wary, K. K., Wiggins, R. C., Killen, P. and Holzman, L. B. (2003). Fyn Binds to and Phosphorylates the Kidney Slit Diaphragm Component Nephrin. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 20716-20723.

Vernier, R. L., Klein, D. J., Sisson, S. P., Mahan, J. D., Oegema, T. R. and Brown, D. M. (1983). Heparan Sulfate--Rich Anionic Sites in the Human Glomerular Basement Membrane. Decreased Concentration in Congenital Nephrotic Syndrome. N. Engl. J. Med. 309, 1001-1009.

Vyas, S. V. and Comper, W. D. (1994). Dextran Sulfate Binding to Isolated Rat Glomeruli and Glomerular Basement Membrane. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1201, 367-372.

Walikonis, R. S., Oguni, A., Khorosheva, E. M., Jeng, C. J., Asuncion, F. J. and Kennedy, M. B. (2001). Densin-180 Forms a Ternary Complex with the (Alpha)-Subunit of Ca2+/calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase II and (Alpha)-Actinin. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 423-433.

Wang, S. X., Rastaldi, M. P., Patari, A., Ahola, H., Heikkila, E. and Holthofer, H. (2002). Patterns of Nephrin and a New Proteinuria-Associated Protein Expression in Human Renal Diseases. *Kidney Int.* 61, 141-147.

Wang, Y., Wang, Y. P., Tay, Y. C. and Harris, D. C. (2000). Progressive Adriamycin Nephropathy in Mice: Sequence of Histologic and Immunohistochemical Events. *Kidney Int*. 58, 1797-1804.

Weening, J. J., Van Guldener, C., Daha, M. R., Klar, N., van der Wal, A. and Prins, F. A. (1987). The Pathophysiology of Protein-Overload Proteinuria. *Am. J. Pathol.* 129, 64-73.

Weins, A., Kenlan, P., Herbert, S., Le, T. C., Villegas, I., Kaplan, B. S., Appel, G. B. and Pollak, M. R. (2005). Mutational and Biological Analysis of Alpha-Actinin-4 in Focal Segmental Glomerulosclerosis. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 16, 3694-3701.

Winn, M. P., Conlon, P. J., Lynn, K. L., Farrington, M. K., Creazzo, T., Hawkins, A. F., Daskalakis, N., Kwan, S. Y., Ebersviller, S., Burchette, J. L. et al. (2005). A Mutation in the TRPC6 Cation Channel Causes Familial Focal Segmental Glomerulosclerosis. *Science* 308, 1801-1804.

Xu, Z. G., Ryu, D. R., Yoo, T. H., Jung, D. S., Kim, J. J., Kim, H. J., Choi, H. Y., Kim, J. S., Adler, S. G., Natarajan, R. et al. (2005). P-Cadherin is Decreased in Diabetic Glomeruli and in Glucose-Stimulated Podocytes in Vivo and in Vitro Studies. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 20, 524-531.

Yang, C. H., Axelrod, J. D. and Simon, M. A. (2002). Regulation of Frizzled by Fat-Like Cadherins during Planar Polarity Signaling in the Drosophila Compound Eye. *Cell* 108, 675-688.

Yao, I., Hata, Y., Ide, N., Hirao, K., Deguchi, M., Nishioka, H., Mizoguchi, A. and Takai, Y. (1999). MAGUIN, a Novel Neuronal Membrane-Associated Guanylate Kinase-Interacting Protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274, 11889-11896.

Yaoita, E., Kurihara, H., Yoshida, Y., Inoue, T., Matsuki, A., Sakai, T. and Yamamoto, T. (2005). Role of Fat1 in Cell-Cell Contact Formation of Podocytes in Puromycin Aminonucleoside Nephrosis and Neonatal Kidney. *Kidney Int.* 68, 542-551. Yaoita, E., Sato, N., Yoshida, Y., Nameta, M. and Yamamoto, T. (2002). Cadherin and Catenin Staining in Podocytes in Development and Puromycin Aminonucleoside Nephrosis. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 17 Suppl 9, 16-19.

Yilmaz, S., Atessahin, A., Sahna, E., Karahan, I. and Ozer, S. (2006). Protective Effect of Lycopene on Adriamycin-Induced Cardiotoxicity and Nephrotoxicity. Toxicology 218, 164-171.

Young, B. A., Sui, X., Kiser, T. D., Hyun, S. W., Wang, P., Sakarya, S., Angelini, D. J., Schaphorst, K. L., Hasday, J. D., Cross, A. S. et al. (2003). Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase Activity Regulates Endothelial Cell-Cell Interactions, the Paracellular Pathway, and Capillary Tube Stability. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol.* 285, L63-75.

Yu, C. C., Yen, T. S., Lowell, C. A. and DeFranco, A. L. (2001). Lupus-Like Kidney Disease in Mice Deficient in the Src Family Tyrosine Kinases Lyn and Fyn. *Curr. Biol.* 11, 34-38.

Yuan, H., Takeuchi, E. and Salant, D. J. (2002). Podocyte Slit-Diaphragm Protein Nephrin is Linked to the Actin Cytoskeleton. *Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol.* 282, F585-91.

Yuan, H., Takeuchi, E., Taylor, G. A., McLaughlin, M., Brown, D. and Salant, D. J. (2002). Nephrin Dissociates from Actin, and its Expression is Reduced in Early Experimental Membranous Nephropathy. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 13, 946-956.

Zenker, M., Aigner, T., Wendler, O., Tralau, T., Muntefering, H., Fenski, R., Pitz, S., Schumacher, V., Royer-Pokora, B., Wuhl, E. et al. (2004). Human Laminin beta2 Deficiency Causes Congenital Nephrosis with Mesangial Sclerosis and Distinct Eye Abnormalities. Hum. Mol. Genet. 13, 2625-2632.

Zhu, J., Sun, N., Aoudjit, L., Li, H., Kawachi, H., Lemay, S. and Takano, T. (2008). Nephrin Mediates Actin Reorganization Via Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase in Podocytes. *Kidney Int*. 73, 556-566.

Zimmermann KW. (1933). Uber den Bau des Gloemrulus den Saugerniere. Weitere Mittleillungen. Z Mikrosk Anat Forsch 32, 176.